Meriden, Waterbury & Connecticut

HE STORY of the Meriden,

Waterbury & Connecticut
River Railroad is so typical of
dozens of other similar under-
takings of the last century that
it reads like a case history of
the “Railroad Fever.”

In the beginning every town
wanted a railroad; just one—
and any one would do. Meriden
got its railroad early. Fortu-
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nately, it was in a direct line
with New Haven, Hartford and
Springfield, so that when the
first link of the New York, New
Haven & Hartford Railroad
was proposed, not much per-
suasion was required to have it
go through what was then West
Meriden.

This, the first Connecticut
railroad, opened in 1838 be-

tween New Haven and Meriden
with stage coaches to Hartford
for a year, by which time rails
were completed through to that
city.

Eventually, the Hartford &
New Haven, as it was called,
combined with the later-built
Hartford & Springfield, and
finally with the New York &
New Haven to form the New
York, New Haven & Hartford

—Photo from Collection of D. W. Peckham.
MERIDEN & CROMWELL RAILROAD NO. 1

at Meriden, Conn.

THE NEW YORK, NEW HAVEN & HARTFORD RAILROAD
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Railroad. The New York end
was completed in 1849.

Since the Western Railroad
was already running its trains
between Worcester and Spring-
field, and the Eastern Railroad
from Worcester to Boston (now
Boston & Albany which is part
of the New York Central Sys-
tem), the year 1949 was the
100th anniversary of the first
all-rail route between New
York and Boston.

One might think that with
such a railroad Meriden would
have been satisfied. It was
for awhile. But before many
years passed it was aware of
what appeared to be rank dis-
crimination on the part of the
New Haven in favor of cities
like New Haven and Hartford
where there was water com-
petition. The manufacturers of
fast-growing Meriden were re-
luctant to accept this situation.

Until 1806 Meriden had been
a parish of Wallingford. How-
ever, in that year Meriden
was set off into a separate
township. About the same time
there were a number of enter-
prising small industries in the
village which started to parti-
cipate in the industrial growth
of the country. They did so well
in the 50 years from 1840
to 1890 that Meriden’s popula-
tion went from 1,800 to 25,423,
which meant more than a two-
fold increase between each
census. The village grew into a
city in short order, and the
businessmen became more and
more reluctant to pay the New
Haven Road’s high rates.

» L *

Meriden & Cheshire R. R.

THE FIRST attempt to break

I the railroad monopoly came
in 1869 when a special town
meeting appointed a committee
to seek passage through the

Legislature of a bill to authorize
the town to subscribe $100,000
to the capital stock of a pro-
posed Meriden & Cheshire
Railroad. A little later the town
of Cheshire authorized a sub-
scription to the same enterprise.

At that time the only inde-
pendent north and south rail-
road was the New Haven &
Northampton Railroad, the
Canal Line, and it is probable
that the proposed line was to
connect with it and thus form
a new route to New York, to
the South and the West, which
would provide competition and
lower rates.

This scheme probably failed
because the New Haven got
control of the Canal Line.
There was active promotion in
1871 of a line between Norwich,
Middletown, Meriden and
Waterbury which would con-
nect at Waterbury with the
Boston, Hartford & Erie Rail-
road, but this scheme never
really got started.

% * »

Meriden & Cromwell R. R.

Y THE YEAR 1881 Meriden
was still groaning under
what it considered were unfair
and discriminatory rates, but
there were several prominent
citizens who had decided to do
something. Manufacturers were
particularly concerned with
the cost of getting coal and
heavy supplies. Their answer
seemed to be a railroad from
Meriden to the Connecticut
River at Cromwell which would
connect with boat and barge
service on the river to New York
and Atlantic Coast ports.

The mere announcement that
such a railroad was contem-
plated brought unexpected re-
sults. The Consolidated, as the
New Haven was known in those
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our first history of a Connecti-
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our previous publications, most
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The Meriden, Waterbury &
Connecticut River Railroad

HE WRITER wishes to

acknowledge his indebted-
ness to the many people who
have helped him with informa-
tion, pictures and general en-
couragement. Special mention
should be given to Mr. Frank
Korten and Mr. James Ullman,
both of whom loaned the author
very extensive notes they had
made from contemporary news-
papers; to Mr. C. B. Burr for
documentary evidence which
makes statements conclusive
which otherwise might have
been surmises, and to Mr. D. W.
Peckham for many of the pic-
tures used herein. Unfortu-
nately both these men passed
away since work on the history
was started.

If any reader of this history
is in possession of additional
facts on the MW &CR, or pic-
tures, the writer would deem it
a favor if he were notified
through Box 941, Meriden. If
a second edition is ever pub-
lished, such information will
help to fill in gaps, which while
not too evident, perhaps, are
nevertheless present.

GLOVER A. SNOW
Box 941
Meriden, Conn.
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days, proclaimed a 25% reduc-
tion in freight rates to Meriden.

It was apparently hoped this
would satisfy the clamor for
lower rates, and at the same
time indicate to the promoters
the kind of competition they
would be up against. Meriden
newspapers warned business-
men of this trick, and suggested
that if the proposed line did not
pay any dividends for 10 years
the savings on freight already
accomplished would warrant
the heavy investment.

* * *

HE MOST ACTIVE promoter

of the Meriden & Cromwell
Railroad was Horace C. Wilcox
who was a pioneer and a
leader in the rapidly-growing
silver industry. He was deter-
mined to let nothing stop the
project, and when he put his
shoulder to the wheel of any
project, it moved. The original
capitalization was set at $300,-
000, of which $230,000 was

pledged before the first orga-
nization meeting.

In addition to his original
subscription Mr. Wilcox stood
ready to take any remaining
stock. He realized, however,
that if the road were to succeed
financially the stock would have
to be distributed into as many
hands as possible. Every effort
was made to get subscriptions
from all kinds of citizens, with
particular emphasis on store-
keepers, manufacturers and
businessmen. Without a finan-
cial stake in the road they
might be amenable to tempo-
rary rate cuts on the part of the
New Haven Road which would
have driven the Meriden &

Cromwell Railroad Co. out of
business almost immediately

after its inception.

The initial meeting was held
on July 5, 1882 with about 150
prominent citizens of the Meri-
den area attending. Seventeen
directors were elected. On July
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11th the directors met and
chose a slate of officers which
included Horace C. Wilcox as
president.

* * *

VERYBODY was optimistic.
As one Meriden paper said :
“It is fair to hope that the sound
of the locomotive whistle will
be heard on the road before
snow flies.” What such a hope
was based upon is difficult to
understand. At any rate it was
reported in the public press on
July 12th that “The Meriden &
Cromwell Railroad Company
are getting down to business.
Stationery is being printed to-
day.” And on July 31st: “The
company has an office in the
Wilcox Block over the Post
Office.”

By September the layout for
the proposed line was com-
pleted and submitted to the
State Railroad Commission for
approval. The original plan was

[T

for the western end to be “in
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the center of the south track
north of the Wilcox & White
Organ Co. factory situated on
the north side of Cambridge
Street and 131 feet west of the
easterly wing.” The petition to
the commission stated that the
company was trying to reach
agreements with the New
Haven for crossing its Berlin-
Middletown branch, and the
Hartford & Connecticut Valley
Railroad for passing over its

line.
* * *

HE hearing of the commis-

sioners was held in Meriden.
Presidents of both the New
Haven and the Valley Roads,
among others, thought it im-
portant enough to attend. This
hearing on September 20th, was
adjourned until the 27th at
Cromwell. Once again Presi-
dent Watrous and Vice-Presi-
dent Reed of the New Haven,
as well as President Babcock of
the Valley Road, were there.

There was a long argument
about a grade crossing with the
Valley Railroad at Cromwell.
The commission reserved its
decision at the time, but within
a couple of weeks gave assent
to the layout. Engineer Drake
of the new line said that it
would be in operation within
12 months’ time.

The next step was to make
deals with the owners of the
property over which the line
would be built. Engineer Drake
said that most of them wanted
altogether too much money.
He had to spend a lot of time
with them, going over the
individual maps he had to make
of their properties. State laws
compelled the new road to de-
posit with the town clerk of
each town through which the
line would run a map on a scale
of 100 feet to the inch within

three months from the town’s
approval of the layout.

Then, as if that were not
enough to keep the chief engi-
neer busy, the powers-that-be
decided to relocate quite a bit
of the line, which meant doing
the job all over again. On
December 8, 1882, Consulting
Engineer Crawford of New
York City conferred with Presi-
ident Wilcox and they agreed
that such relocations would
considerably lessen the number
of grade crossings and trim
$30,000 off construction costs.
They then talked about getting
the road running “by early fall,
if not summer” (of 1883).

The formalities of petitioning
for relocated sections got under
way in January 1883, but it was
not until May that the route
was approved. To give some
idea of the “red tape’” inciden-
tal to these alterations, there
were eight pages of small print
in the notice of the hearing, all
of which had to be sent to the
70 property owners who were
or might be affected. The re-
vision would, in addition to line
changes, bring the road nearer
the center of Meriden.

* * *

N THE DAY of the hearing
the Railroad Commissioners
came to Meriden and took
carriages to Westfield station on
the New Haven’s Middletown-
Berlin branch. Both presidents
of the Consolidated and the
Valley Roads were on hand
with their engineers. The party
examined every point where the
new railroad was to cross a
highway. The commission did
not announce its decision over
the changes at the time. A few
days later, on June 27th, the
Meriden & Cromwell made an
agreement with the Valley
Road to cross its tracks below
grade.
It was a full year since the

Meriden & Cromwell had been
organized, but no construction
had started. The public had
apparently become impatient
and skeptical; the local papers
carried quite a few items calcu-
lated to reassure the populace.
It was stated that the ties had
been purchased and delivered
at Cromwell and that actual
construction would begin “at
the earliest possible moment.”

In August of 1883 the direc-
tors voted to buy an engine and
five freight cars for use in build-
ing the road. A contract was let
for grading, and in September
work actually commenced.

* * *

Y the middle of December

engine house, turntable and
water tank at Cromwell were
nearly completed, but delays
from bad weather and other
causes confounded all previous
predictions about the time of
opening. Another change was
made in the location for the
Mcriden terminus. It was de-
cided to put the passenger and
freight station, as well as the
yards, between Camp and Cen-
ter Streets (on property now
owned and used by the New
Departure Division of General
Motors), which at the time was
adjacent to the old woolen mill.

The right-of-way skirted
Brookside Park (then called
Camp’s Meadows) and the
south edge of Pratt’s Pond. The
plan to build the depot on
State Street near the Meriden
Britannia Company (now Fac-
tory E, International
Company) failed to materialize.

In May, 1884, President
Wilcox and two other officers
went to Springfield and bought
40 freight cars, as well as a
passenger coach, from the
Wason Manufacturing Com-
pany. Meanwhile, the Rhode
Island Locomotive Works was
building what the newspapers

Silver"

I dad
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called “a light engine to be used
in the constructing of the road.
Afterward a heavy engine will
be put on.”

The first half mile of track
was laid in May at the Crom-
well end, and by the 28th of
June it was completed as far as
Highland station. Ground was
broken for the Meriden round-
house at Center Street in July.
By the first ot September the
track had gotten to Pratt's
Pond in Meriden.

*k Ed ES

HE BIG SWAMP between
Highland and Pratt’s Pond
gave much trouble—and was
to give more later. October saw
completion of the main track to
Center Street, and by the fourth
of the month inspection and
work trains had been run over
the whole road. The directors
called for the ninth and last
installment of 15 % on the stock

from subscribers.

Meanwhile, docking facilities
were constructed at Cromwell.
A passenger and freight depot
was erected there, and a similar
combined facility at Center
Street in Meriden.

Winter brought a slowdown
in finishing the road so that
formal opening plans were
made for April 1, 1885. At the
last minute it was announced
that the event would be put off
for a week because the State
Railroad Commission would not
be able to inspect the road in
time for the earlier opening.

According to the local papers
“some very pretty passenger
cars are on the way. They were
in Springfield this morning, and
much admired by passersby.”
Actually only one coach was
purchased new from the Wason
company in Springfield, No. 10,
the combination car. Additional
coaches were rented from the
Valley Road when needed.

Meriden & Cromwell officials
made a trip to Cromwell in
No. 10 on April 25th, and
everyone was much pleased.

The road’s first conductor
was C. H. Stebbins who had
been gathering experience on
the New York Elevated, al-
though he was a Meriden man.
M. 8. Osgood, an engineer of
20 years’ experience, was to be
the throttle handler. And “in
cases of necessity Master Me-
chanic Gilbert, who has been
with the road a year, will take
charge of the engine.”

The papers further stated
that the road would start “with
two fine engines built by the
Rhode Island Locomotive
Works, with passenger and
freight cars by Wason & Co. at
Springfield. About 50 freight
cars will transport merchandise
of all kinds.”

* * *

HE STATE Railroad Commis-
mission made a trip over the
line on April 1st and signified
its approval. Three days later
the stockholders were given an
excursion to Cromwell for a
preview of their new railroad.
Guests from around the state
accompanied them, including
numerous editors and other

newspapernmen, A large crowd
gathered at Center Street depot
to see the train off. It was re-
ported that the trip “was a
smooth one—mnot the slightest
accident to mar their enjoy-
ment. The commodious freight
depot and cozy passenger room
at Cromwell were much ad-
mired by the visitors.”
* * *

ON APRIL 6, 1885, without

tfanfare, regularly scheduled
service began. The timetable
gave trains 35 minutes to make
the run to Cromwell. There
were flag stops at Highland.
Smith’s crossing and Westfield,
and three round trips, leaving
Meriden at 8:45 a. m., 12:15
and 5:10 p. m. Returning trains
reached Meriden at 7:05, 11
a. m. and 4 p. m. The schedules
were set up to make connections
with the Hartford-New York
boats on the Connecticut River.
If shippers got their freight to
the Meriden station by 5 o’clock
at night, it would be delivered
in New York the next morning;
freight from New York got the
same overnight service.

The new road received exten-
sive writeups in newspapers all
over the state as an example of
what the citizens of a city could

—Photo from Collection of D. W. Peckham.
CROMWELL—The station and dock facilities on the river.
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do to eliminate railroad rate
diserimination and improve
service. Several editors warned
Meridenites that although the
road’s mission had been accom-
plished they should not neglect
to patronize it. From general
comments it could be inferred
that the Consolidated Road did
not have too many friends in
the state in 1885.

Completion of the road and
its apparent success brought
agitation for extensions in vari-
ous directions. One proposal
was to Bristol via Southington
to connect with the New York
& New England Railroad for
the Western business. (The
New York & New England
connection was eventually
made at Waterbury).

* % *

HE FIRST STROKE of bad

luck to hit the Meriden &
Cromwell was a Conneccticut
River Spring freshet. On the
25th of the road’s first month
of operation it was reported
that 50 feet of the line near
Cromwell was under two feet
of water. Whether the trains
were allowed to plow through
was not stated, but it was
claimed that no delays were
being encountered in freight
deliveries from New York.
However, conditions became
worse because trains ceased
operation within a week. After
the water went down, the em-
bankment, damaged by river
currents, had to be replaced.
Trains were back on schedule
by the end of the month.

During this freshet the tracks
were under water in three
places, “Puddock” meadows,
Cromwell meadows and at the
dock. The road announced that
alteration of the grade would
be made at these places to pre-
vent recurrence of the trouble.
Just how this was done at the
docks i1s a little puzzling, be-

cause the following Autumn it
was stated that the track was
being LOWERED to bring it
down level with the boat. “This
will be appreciated by the
steamship company, who on
this account has found it hard
to keep a crew longer than one
or two trips.” (If the steamship
company had that much trouble
with the crews, appreciation
seems a mild word; but that’s
the way it was reported in the
papers).

The 1880’s were the great
days of railroad excursions.
There were no family automo-

biles to give them competition,
and trolleys were yet to blossom
beyond the horsecar stage. Rail
trips of 8, 10 or more miles
brought out big crowds. The
churches, Sunday schools,
clubs, lodges and all kinds of
organizations, promoted excur-
sions to beaches, lakes, parks,
and groves, and they traveled
by special train. The Meriden
& Cromwell went after this
business, usually in conjunction
with the river steamers. The
papers vrepeatedly contained
notices of excursions down the
river.

Copy of Advertisement in 1885 Meriden Papers

via

MERIDEN & CROMWELL RAILROAD

AND

HARTFORD & NEW YORK STEAMBOATS

Summer Arrangement — 1885

St«.eamers *City of Springfield” and ‘“‘Capitol City” leave Cromwell
daily (except Sunday) on arrival of 5:10 P. M. train from Meriden,
stopping at all points on the Connecticut River, arriving at New York

7 A, M.

Returning, leave Pier 24, East River, N. Y., daily (except Sunday) at
4 P. M., connecting at Cromwell with Meriden & Cromwell Railroad,

arriving at Meriden 7:10 A. M.

Meals served at reasonable rates.

Single tickets, Meriden to New York, with berth ........ccooov.... 1.45
Excursion tickets, Meriden to New York and return, with berth 2.75

State Rooms, one way ....cocccoeeinnnnen.
State Rooms, round trip ...............

............................................. 1.00

Fare, Meriden to Philadelphia, summer season

(Railroad from New York) 4.30

Fare, Meriden to Philadelphia and return .......ccccocoovvvverireennenn., 6.50

ON SATURDAYS—Excursion tickets, good for the trip only, for one
passage and stateroom to New York and return,
including use of a room three nights, giving
excursionists an opportunity to visit seaside
resorts in and around New York, Coney Island,
Long Branch. Rockaway, Glen Island, ete., Sun-
day and Monday, arriving at Meriden Tuesday

morning .........

C. C. Goodrich

Fare 4.25

Gen’l Agent Hartford Steamboat Co.

Fred K. DePeyster

Supt. Meriden & Cromwell Railroad

Meriden, May 9, 1885
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One popular run was via the
steamer “‘Sunshine’” to Sag
Harbor, Shelter Island and
Niantic. There were moonlight
excursions on the river on the
barge “Frolic.”” There were
trips to Osprev Beach. The
route would be Meriden to
Cromwell by rail and down the
river to the beach by the
“Frolie.”” These are some of the
popular things people did in the
1880’s bhefore movies, radios,

automobiles and television.
¥ ¥ E 3

EPRODUCED on the pre-
ceding page is an advertise-
ment of the Summer schedule
of the Meriden & Cromwell for
1885. Just look at those rates.
And they included sleeping
accommodations, too! Meriden
papers extolled the trip, and
reminded readers that they
“were indebted to the managers
of our railroad for having the
facilities perfected” and sug-
gested they would want to use
them “‘as a matter of local pride
as well as convenience.”

A coal bin and coal-handling
facilities were erected at Crom-
well in the Spring of 1885, and
were used not only for the rail-
road and its customers but by
coal purchasers up the river. It
was noted in the papers that a
large three-masted schooner
with 400 tons of coal was at the
dock at one time, being un-
loaded with the new donkey
engine, which ecould handle 200
tons a day. The coal was trans-
fered to scows for the rest of
the trip to Springfield.

In addition to promoting trips
to New York via Cromwell and
the river both ways, which con-
sumed a minimum of two days
and two nights, publicity was
given to a circular trip—down
via Cromwell and back via boat
to New Haven, leaving New
York at 3 p. m. and getting into
Meriden via the ‘steamboat

train” at 9 p.m. This gave a day
in New York and consumed a
little over 24 hours, or consider-
ably less than both ways via the
river. This did not give much
revenue to the Meriden &
Cromwell, but it could use any
passenger revenue to advan-
tage even though the road was
built primarily for freight.

In September 1885 the rail-
road commission had another
inspection, by speeial train,
“and found everything in first
class condition. They were es-
pecially pleased with the 500-
foot trestle.” The president of
the Meriden & Cromwell went
along to call their attention to
such things.

In Qctober preparations were
made for the Winter freeze-up
on the river. Shipments would
leave Meriden as usual, but
would be transferred to the
Valley Road at Cromwell and
it would carry them to Say-
brook Point. From there they
would go to New York by boat.
Freight would be accepted
until 6 p. m. at Center Street
and still be handled overnight.

Another change, effective
October 16, 1885, was to ad-
vance the time of the 4:50 p. m.
out of Cromwell to 3:30, with
arrival in Meriden at 4 o’clock.

* ¥ ¥

T the annual meeting of the

road in January 1886, the
officers reported net earnings
of $1,781.37 for nine months
since the opening for business.
The road had ecarried 15,312
tons of freight and 17,366
passengers.

The Summer schedule, with
boat service from Cromwell to
New York returned April 1st.
At the same fime McGuire’s
Swamp near Bullis Crossing,
about two miles from Meriden,
began to have Spring fever and
heave around. The track set-
tled, and there were times when

it was unsafe to run trains over
it. Freight then had to be taken
off the cars at the crossing and
brought to Meriden by horse-
drawn truck. Passengers had to
alight and walk to another
train on the other side of the
subsidence. Aside from minor
troubles like this, life on the
Meriden & Cromwell appears
to have been reasonably smooth
during the following several
months.

£ k¥
Meriden & Waterbury

Railroad
ROJECTED new railroads

were as popular a topic of
conversation in the 1870’s and
1880’s as the building of park-
ways and superhighways is
now in 1952. In talk and on
paper the Meriden & Cromwell
was given extensions to New
Britain, Plainville, Wallingford
and even New Haven, as well
as to Bristol, Waterbury and
Middletown. Everybody wanted
extensions but few were willing
to put their money into them.
The one with the most steam
behind it was a projected ex-
tension to Waterbury.

In February, 1887, a Water-
bury paper reported revival of
“the old railroad scheme. There
is a movement on foot to build
a railroad from Waterbury to
Meriden to conneet with the
Meriden & Cromwell road. This
would give Waterbury another
tidewater connection for eight
months of the year, increasing
freighting facilities, and be a
great convenience for passen-
ger travel, as it would intercept
the Canal, the Consolidated and
Hartford & Connecticut Valley
Railroads. Many of our busi-
ness men look with favor on
this project.”

The Middletown ecorrespon-
dent of the Hartford Courant
reported that the New York &
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New England Railroad would
build a line from South Man-
chester to Gildersleeve, to
whieh it would bring freight
from Springfield and other
points. This never happened,
but similar rumors persisted for
vears. The companion to it, that
the New York & New England
would lease the Meriden &
Cromwell, eventually became a
fact five years later, However,
the comment of one Meriden
paper in 1887 was, “No, never!
Meriden isn’t so anxious to sell
her railroad, and Waterbury is
willing to try her hand before
yielding up her stock.”

* * *

MEETING of Waterbury

citizens was held late in
February and a committee was
appointed to look into the
matter. So in spite of rumors to
the contrary, the extension at
that time was far from assured.
However, the following month
the directors of the Meriden &
Cromwell expressed approval,
and a heavy selling campaign
was started in Waterbury to
raise that city’s share of the
needed capital. Meanwhile, a
bill was introduced in the
Legislature authorizing consoli-
dation of the Meriden & Crom-
well with the proposed Meriden
& Waterbury.

t this point, it might be well
to stop and consider the situa-
tion. The History of Middlesex
County, published in 1884,
says, “The purpose of the Meri-
den & Cromwell Railroad was
to afford the manufacturers of
Meriden an outlet for raw ma-
terials and manufactured goods
and thus relieve them from the
extortions of monopolies. The
stock is mostly owned by manu-
facturers and merchants in
Meriden, and no debts have
been incurred in construction
of the road, either by issue of
bonds or otherwise.” This was

a fair statement of the road’s
purpose, and what it had ac-
complished. If it had never
gone over the hill to Waterbury
it probably would have gotten
along well enough and kept out
of trouble. Apparently nobody
realized what it would even-
tually cost to complete the line,
and more especially to go far
enough in Waterbury to con-
nect with the New York & New
England.

* * *

TRENUQUS efforts had to be
made to sell the stoek in
Waterbury. One of the propo-
nents said at a meeting there,
“When Meriden wanted to
raise $200,000 for the Crom-
well road, the leading silver
company took $100,000 worth,
what some of its directors
thought was an extravagant
sum. So careful account was
kept during the past year, and
it was found that in the second
vear of the road, the savings on
freight for them were $7,800,
nearly 84 on the investment.”
The question of the practi-
cability of a railroad over the
mountain came up at the same
meeting. The speaker quoted
said that the steepest grade
would be 112 feet to the mile
for 1,200 feet, the rest averag-

'-Highway Competition
Even in the 1880’s

At a meeting proposing the

extension of the Meriden &
Cromwell Railroad to Water-
bury, it was brought out that
quite a number of 4-horse
teams were carrying metal
over the hills from Water-
bury to places like Cheshire
and Wallingford, this being
less expensive than any rout-
ing via the Naugatuck Rail-
road under the rates then
prevailing.

ing about 90 feet, or a little
under 2%.

The original Interstate Com-
merce Commission Aect was
passed in 1887, but according
to the proponents of the new
railroad, the published rates
under the act were even higher
than those used previously. The
only exceptions were those
brought about by the short haul
clause. IFor instance, the rate on
coal had been 80 cents to Meri-
den and 75 to Hartford. The
Consolidated, in view of the
Cromwell competition, decided
to cut the Meriden rate to that
of Hartford instead of raising
the Hartford rate to the old
Meriden figure. The new act
prohibited the rate being lower
to a point farther on than it was
to any point through which the
traffic passed.

* % ox

XTREME difficulty was ex-

perienced getting Waterbury
to pick up its share of the
check. The original idea was
for Waterbury to finance it
entirely, with $200,000 in stock.
Finally, in order to prevent the
scheme from collapsing, Meri-
den took $75,000. Waterbury,
with great difficulty, obtained
subscriptions, on paper, for
$125,000. Much of it was never
paid for, as it later turned out.

The whole road from Crom-
well west was to bonded for
$10,000 a mile, or $300,000.
This, with $200,000 in stock,
would make the total of $500,-
000 it was thought needed to
build and equip the road. Rails
and ties would cost $140,000,
grading and bridges about
$270,000 (“‘the very best iron
bridges’’), it was said. The New
York & New England connee-
tion would be about $30,000
more.

The Cromwell end was, of
course, practically tidewater,
and with minor ups and downs
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the line got to Center Street
terminus without reaching 200
feet elevation at any point. The
new line took off from Meriden
& Cromwell tracks east of
Twiss Pond in Meriden, went
under DBritannia and Broad
Streets, passed over North
Colony Road just north of the
old cily line, bridged the New
Haven Road tracks at about
200 feet above sea level, then
turned southwest and crossed
numerous streets.

* & *

RON BRIDGES were used at
North Colony Street, the
New Haven Railroad and
Gracey, Kensington and Lewis
Avenues. These were all under-
passes. Bevond Lewis Avenue
the track was almost at street
grade, but wooden overpass
bridges were erected for the
highways, except at West Main
Street which overpassed the
rails on a more substantial
structure. Land was purchased
north of West Main Street for
a passenger station, yards, an
engine house, shops, and turn-
table.
South of West Main Street

names appear In this story

as engineers and superin-
1 tendent, were a well-known
family of engineers.

J. U. Crawford spent five
or six years in Japan at the
request of the Japanese gov-

l ernment to get its new rail-
way lines running. He also
held important positions with
the Pennsylvania Railroad,
and returned to its employ
after his work on the Meri-
den road.

Charles M. Crawford, the
superintendent of the line,
was his brother; and a third
brother, Norman, was
engineer for the P. R. R.

an
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Facsimile of one of the bills approved in construction of the
Waterbury extension.

the line followed the valley
down the west side of Hanover
Pond, where it turned west and
ran up the Quinnipiac valley
to get over onto the Cheshire
side of the ridge. Up to this
point thce gradients were not
difficult. The track dropped
(with some ups and downs)
from the crossing of the New
Haven Road to Hanover Pond,
to about 80 feet above tide.
An overpass at the Canal
Line in Cheshire was at 164 feet
elevation. The real climb began
there. From West Cheshire
station, a little Leyond the
Canal Road, to Summit was
three miles, with an elevation
of about 549 feet. After the
road was built the time allowed
by timetable from West Main
Street to Hough’s Mill, 3.1

miles trom Hanover Pond, was
8 minutes. From Hough’s Mill
to Summit, 7 miles, the allow-
ance was 30 minutes. TFrom
Summit to Dublin Street Sta-
tion in Waterbury, 5.3 miles,
took 13 minutes. This is a littlc
ahead of our story, but will give
some conception of what the
new railroad was attempting.

E. B. Moss, one of the sur-
veyors on the Waterbury exten-
sion, says that the grade from
the crossing of the Canal Road
to the summit of Waterbury
Mountain was two per cent,
compensated for curves.

In May 1887, when the ex-
tension was actually being or-
ganized, it was stated that the
amount raised for the under-
taking might not be sufficient.
Since Meriden, and Horace
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Wilcox in particular, would
shoulder the additional burden
“aven if it takes a million,” it
“seemed advisable to give Meri-
den control.” In other words
Waterbury having fallen down
on financing, it was in no posi-
tion to dominate the enterprise.
The officers of the Meriden &
Waterbury were all Meriden
men except for Charles Dicken-
son of Waterbury who was the
president. This was a tempo-
rary setup until the Meriden &
Cromwell and the extension
could be consolidated.

PEED was necessary because

there would be no income
from the west end until it was
in operation. Here the new line
ran into real trouble. Over 200
property owners were involved
in the acquisition of the right-
of-way. The company thought
that the trustees of the State
School in Meriden, through
whose land the line would go,
had understood and agreed to
what was necessary. The com-
pany soon found it was wrong.
After wrangling and personal
recriminations, the road paid
more than had been planned
rather than undergo further
expensive delay in construction
which it was claimed ran to
several hundred dollars a day.

There were other rows over
land, including a serious tangle
with the Scovill Manufacturing
Company which dragged on
and on, and when finally com-
promised after great expense
and delay had one very curious
angle. The railroad was noti-

=

i

~
-

fied, sub-rosa, by an official of
the company, that it intended
to go into bankruptcy at noon
the following day, and that if
the railroad did not want to
become involved with getting
a signed agreement from the
receiver of the court, it had
better work up an agreement
that could be signed in a hurry.
The engineers and surveyors
worked all night to get speci-
fications in order, the agree-
ment was signed before noon
the following day, and Scovill
duly filed a petition in bank-
ruptey directly thereafter.

Crossing of other rail lines,
too, was not accomplished
without fights. The New Haven
which controlled the Canal
Road and the Naugatuck Road,
claimed that they “owned the
land under the railroad from
the center of the earth to the
stars above’; no road had a
right to cross their lines without
a special act of Legislature,
etc., ete. They also refused to
have any track connection with
the new road at the north end
of Meriden. The Railroad Com-
mission held hearings in May,
at which the president of the
New Haven said the Meriden &
Cromwell was no friend of
theirs, and they wanted nothing
to do with it.

Ed * *

HERE was trouble, too, over

certain street crossings and
alterations in Waterbury, with
hearings, city council meetings
and uncompromising attitudes
that were finally softened, and
agreements reached. In Meri-

-

On the Waterbury extension near Cheshire Street station.

den there was a certain amount
of trouble, most of which cen-
tered about the width of the
roadway under North Colony
Road crossing. A compromise
was reached on the basis that
it would be changed in the
future if required, but the city
of Meriden was still plagued by
the narrow opening 60 years
later. The only change since
1887 was the gaining of a little
headroom when the tracks were
raised a number of years ago.
This crossing got into the head-
lines in 1951 when a contractor
who was lowering the highway
through the bridge set off too
heavy a blast and cracked the
abutment, as well as water and
gas mains under the street.
Ed * ¥
OLD weather and snow, in-
cluding the big Blizzard of
1888 on March 12th, delayed
construction of the Waterbury
line. Operations were carried
on as far as possible all Winter,
but it took until March 20th to
get the road shoveled out after
the Snowstorm of the Century.

The State Railroad Commis-
gion’s report for the year end-
ing December 31, 1887, stated
that approval of the location of
the line was given June 30th,
that its length would be 18.84
miles, ‘“‘of which 11.6 miles are
completed. It crosses the New
Haven & Northampton and the
Naugatuck divisions of the New
York, New Haven & Hartford.
being carried over them. Ii
crosses 38 streets and highway :,
of which it was dasired to cross
16 at grade, and the town
authorities united with the raii-
road in urging that it be
allowed. In view of the require-
ments of the law, we did feel
justified in permitting any at
grade.” This of course added
considerably to the cost of
building the railroad.
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Meriden, Waterbury & Connecticut River Railroad

N MAY 24, 1888 the Meriden

& Cromwell and the Meriden
& Waterbury were combined
as the Meriden, Waterbury &
Connecticut River Railroad
Company. Construction was far
enough advanced so that a
special train was run from
Waterbury to Meriden earrying
stockholders to the meeting.
The capital stock of the new
company was $500,000 plus
bonds, and it began life with
three locomotives and a fourth
on order with the Schenectady
Locomotive Works. In October
of the previous year the com-
pany had acquired engine No.
3, a used Pennsylvania Railroad
machine, “for construction
work,” it was explained.

There were five Pullman-
built passenger coaches of the
latest design. The Meriden &
Cromwell had 100 freight cars
of one kind or another, and the

consolidation was to start with
a total of 160 in that category.
The “new and fashionable Pull-
man coaches” proved to be
higher than expected, so that
the bridges at Broad and Bri-
tannia Streets had to be raised
18 inches to clear them.

The Waterbury stockholders’
trip to the meeting at Meriden
was enlivened by several inci-
dents. One of the Meriden
papers reported: ‘““A Cheshire
farmer in an old fashioned top
carriage left Dublin Street sta-
tion at the same time the train
did, and raced all the way to
Cheshire. He reached there
two minutes ahead of the train,
and was as happy as a clam.”

* * *
T MERIDEN horsecars met
the passengers and took
them downtown “. .. two large
excursion cars and several
closed cars. When the first car

of Waterbury visitors came
down Linsley Hill heavily
loaded, the horses began to run
and the driver lost conirol of
them. The car skated down the
hill . . . and did not stop until
it had crossed the Consolidated
railroad track, but the passen-
gers all jumped off at the
corner.”
% * £

HE Meriden, Waterbury &

Connecticut River Ratlroad
began business with Horace C.
Wilcox as president; E. D.
Steele of Waterbury as vice-
president; George Rockwell,
secretary and treasurer; H. L.
Wade of Waterbury, assistant
treasurer. The directors were
the officers and Abiram Cham-
berlain (later governor of the
State of Connecticut), George
R. Curtis of Meriden and H. A.
Matthews of Waterbury. This
was substantially the same list
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as the Meriden & Cromwell,
with the Waterbury people
added. In the original setup of
1882 Mr. Chamberlain was the
treasurer, and Charles Parker
vice-president. C. M. Crawford
continued as superintendent,
with H. L. B. Pond as general
freight agent.
* *  ®

FTER the meeting, many

stockholders went to Crom-
well to inspect the docks and
other railroad facilities. In
Meriden progress was being
made at the new West Main
Street yards. A roundhouse and
turntable were being built, and
bids for a passenger station had
been asked. The Waterbury
yards were being laid out. It
was announced that “the usual
summer-time train connecting
with the steamer ‘Sunshine’ on
the river will leave Meriden
station at 8:55 a. m. and on
return leave Cromwell at
10:20 a. m. Passenger engine
No. 4, which has been building
in Schenectady, is on its way to
Mcriden and will arrive in a
day or two. It is said to be a
powerful and handsome
machine.”

Fourth of July, 1888 was the
day of the big openmg, and

the newspapers devoted much
space to the story:

The formal and public opening
happened auspiciously on the nation’s
112th birthday . . . and four trips of
the long and well-filled passenger
trains were made without accident.
The glorious Fourth could ofer no
miore . . . opening the people’s rail-
road . . . built by the people. There
is not a rough spot on the whole road.
Horseshoe Curve on the steepest
grade of the mountain is well worth
seeing, in Cheshire Notch.

The nine cars were at the West
Main Street crossing at 8 a. m. Six
of them were the new cars and the
other three were old ones purchased
of the Philadelphia & Reading, and
which have not yet been put in repair,
as they will be used for the excursion
business . . . The Resolute (Baseball)
Nine boarded the train as did 300
other Meriden people who wished to
go out on the first public trip, and
who also wished to see the game at
Waterbury. Tickets were sold from a
temporary office at the north end of
the platform.

At 8:30 the train, hauled by new
engine No. 4, started. A second en-
gine hauled three open cars filled
with seats, and in climbing the heavy
grade assisted in pushing the first
train over. The train ran slowly, and
gave plenty of time for inspecting
the glorious scenery, arriving in
Waterbury in an hour. Right on top
of Cheshire Mountain, near Rag
Hollow Ravine, Mr. Dunham of
Cheshire has built up a beautiful
picnic ground. Here a large company
was assembled, and greetings ex-
changed as the train went by. At this
point a flag station will be established.

*

* *
EGULAR schedules began
several days later. The ﬁrst

timetable of the completed line
listed three westbound and four
eastbound trains. There were
nine flagstops in addition to the
regular stations and terminals
at Waterbury, Meriden and

Cromwell. Connections with
north and south lines were
listed, including one with the

New York-to-Hartford boats on
the river. One train ran non-
stop between Waterbury (Dub-
lin Street) and Meriden (West
Main Street). The old Center
Street station was not on the
completed line but it was con-
tinued for freight.
* * *

REIGHT began to contribute

revenue, one Waterbury
coal dealer taking 400 tons
which had been barged up-river
to Cromwell. All sorts of ideas
cropped up for extensions, in-
cluding one to Willimantic.
Optimism ran high. Arrange-
mcnts were made with the U, S.
Express Company for service
over the line and by boat to
New York, and a mail contract
was confidently expected. Ex-
cursions were the order of the
day, to Mr. Dunham’s grove,
or down the Connecticut River,
or to any and every point of
mterest by varlous organiza-
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tions in Meriden,
and vicinity.

One job remained to be done,
a connection with the New
York & New England at Water-
bury, and the contract for this
was made the latter part of
July. The distance was only
three-quarters of a mile, but
the undertaking was very ex-
pensive because of the terrain
crossed.

Waterbury

* * ES

HERE WAS great excitement

in South Meriden on August
10th, when engine No. 1, draw-
ing a mixed train and running
backward, jumped the track
not far from Red Bridge. The
tender went down a ten-foot
embankment and turned over
on its side, smashing its trucks
and dumping its coal. The en-
gine stopped askew the track.
A choo-fly was built around the
wreck and service resumed the
next day. The papers reported
that the cause of the accident
was not known, as an examina-
tion of the rails indicated that
they had not spread. The en-
gine was raised, put on the
track and taken away for

repairs. Meanwhile an engine
was borrowed from the Hart-
ford & Connecticut Western to
keep up service, as there were
no spare engines on the road.

In the latter part of August,
1888, construction was started
on the new passenger station at
West Main Street, Meriden.
The first story was brownstone,
the second wood, and the ar-
chitecture of a pleasing type
which was quite common in
public buildings of the period.
It had a small tower, and a slate
roof. The offices of the com-
pany were on the second floor.
The car shop, roundhouse and
other facilities were on the
same tract of land.

The road received delivery
from Schenectady early in Oc-
tober of No. 5, a 4-6-0, It was
the heaviest machine on the
road and old-timers claim it
was very seldom used west of
Meriden.

LI
N SPITE of the Consolidated’s
distaste for the idea, plans
were made to connect the two
roads at the north end of Meri-
den, and it was actually accom-

plished in February, 1889. A
certain amount of fraight was
routed that way to and from
Boston and Waterbury, as well
as from nearer points. Berlin
brick: 152,000 of them, mad2
the trip over the niil in one

shipment.
* E3 Eg

HE first annual meeting of
the Meriden, Waterbury &
Connecticut River Raiiroad Co.
came in November, 1888, and
the stockholders were pleased,
and surprised, to learn that ia
the short time it had been in
operation, the road earned 7%«
on its investment.

When appraising these or
any other figures on the Meri-
den, Waterbury & Connecticut
River Railroad, or for that
matter any railroad or business
enterprise in those days. it
should be remembered that a
charge against carnings for
wear and tear, depreciation, or
anv other provision for eventual
replacement of equipment, was
completely ignored. As that
was the happy time before in-
come taxes, corpnrate or per-
sonal, were thought of, no one

—Photo from collection
of D. W. Peckham.

BRIDGE over the
Naugatuck River
at Waterbury. Lo-
comotive No. 1 and
crew pose for this
photograph.
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Facsimile of a printer’s proof of the new MW&CR
timetable for August 1888. Note error in “Smith’s.”

was obliged to keep books to
any further extent than he
thought necessary. Probably
this was one of the reasons why
many early railroads, after a
season of reporting earnings
and paying dividends, would
suddenly discover themselves

insolvent and go bankrupt.
* * x*

HEN the New York & New

England connection was fin-
ished early in 1889, it was ex-
pected that hard coal would
come from the west that way,
in addition to shipments up the
Connecticut River. There were
recurring rumors of an exten-
sion through Wallingford to
tidewater at New Haven, but

CENTER STREET
TERMINUS
1891

the Wallingford people, who
would presumably benefit most,
did not come forward with any
financial backing and the idea
was forgotten.

The Hartford correspondent
of the Springfield Republican
sald the Hartford-New York
boats had a prosperous year
chiefly because of the business
coming to them from the Meri-
den, Waterbury & Connecticut
River Railroad. The Consoli-
dated had taken control of the
Valley Road, and there was no
longer a combination Winter
service by boat between New
York and Saybrook and thence
by rail to Cromwell.

“Meriden manufacturers who
built the Cromwell road to es-
cape extravagant freight rates
can now ship to New York via
Waterbury, the New England
Road, the Housatonic, and then
transfer to boat at Norwalk.”
This New England connection
at Waterbury, therefore, took
the road out of a rather tight
spot.

* * &

FTER the New Haven took

control of the Valley Road,
the Meriden, Waterbury &
Connecticut River Railroad was
obliged for one Winter season
before the New York & New
England connection at Water-

bury was in operation to take
its New York bound freight tc
Cromwell, forward it to Middle-
town on the Valley Line, then
over the Air Line to New Haven
where it could be put aboard
the New Haven-New York
boat. A Middletown paper used
this predicament as a peg to
hang up a story that the Con-
solidated was going to “‘gobble
up the MW & CR.”

The writer professed to see
“the hand of the Consolidated
in this move” (killing the boat
service from Saybrook to New
York). He stated it was the in-
tention of the New Haven to
take over the MW & CR and run
trains into Middletown instead
of Cromwell. This brought a
prompt reply from one of the
Meriden papers whose editor
declared that the “Graveyard
City” (as he termed it) would
never get a connection with the
Meriden, Waterbury & Con-
necticut River Railroad until its
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“proverbially slow” people got
busy and paid for it.

The same Middletown paper
alleged that the Meriden, Wa-
terbury & Connecticut River
was '‘doing practically no busi-
ness,” but against that must be
placed the news item from the
Deep River correspondent of a
New Haven paper to the effect
that low water on the river, to-
gether with the heavy amount
of freight received from the
railroad at Cromwell made the
Hartford boat late most nights.

£ #* *®

BOUT this time it was re-

ported that there was a
curve at the dam of the Ameri-
can Brass Company’s pond,
“which never has given full
satisfaction,” and alterations
were being made. In the same
news item the ten-wheeler is
mentioned as having “already
proved itself such as was long
wanted,” which may indicate
that this was the machine that
had trouble on that curve.

On March 25, 1889, the rail-
road’s stockholders held a
special meeting at which sec-
ond mortgage bonds of $400,-
000 were voted. The Waterbury
extension had been enormously
more expensive than expected,
so that the previously issued
stock and bonds had been in-
sufficient to cover the cost, and
Horace C. Wilcox, true to his
declaration that he would see
the job through, had found the
needed funds. The bonds were
issued to him as a measure of
security, although in the end
they proved a rather weak one.
These details did not come out
in the newspapers at the time.

On the fifth of April, 1889,
passenger trains began to run
into the New York & New
England station at Waterbury,
using Dublin Street station as a
way stop. The first freight train

made the run into the New
England yards on the 15th of
January previous, amid much
gaping on the part of the citi-
zens of Waterbury, as the
bridges and trestles rose over
the tops of houses and factories
in a way which was quite novel
to the inhabitants. It was
claimed that the route showed
engineering skill unequalled
this side of the Rockies, which
seems to be stretching the truth
a bit, but it probably was un-
usual in these parts.

The New York & New Eng-
land connection made possible
the handling of a lot of business
for the West., For example,
Portland brownstone was sent
to Bridgeport and even as far
as Chicago. Full cars of mer-
chandise went to many points
west of the Hudson River via
MW &CR. The connection with
the New Haven at the north
end of Meriden brought busi-
ness, whether that road liked
it or not.

* * *
N THE SPRING of 1889 the

Consolidated Road applied to
the Legislature for an increase
in its capital stock, which
brought some unexpected re-
actions. The Meriden, Water-
bury & Connecticut River and
the Derby Road both sent dele-

West = aSt, =+ =

I

gations to Hartford requesting
that the Consolidated charter
be amended to compel it to
interchange cars with other
railroads without prohibitive
switehing charges.

Several persons testified that
President Clark of the Consoli-
dated had told them that the
Meriden, Waterbury & Con-
necticut River was built ‘“‘to in-
jure” his road, that they could
expect no favors, and that th=
switching charge was made on
that basis. After much wrang-
ling, it was left out of the
charter, but an agreement was
made that no road which got
any of the haul could make a
switching charge. ‘“‘Everybody
was satisfied,” according to tha
final reports.

% * *

HE waiting room and tickct

office at West Main Street
station were put into use June
17, 1889. The depot and othcr
buildings erected by the rail-
road there were on the old site
of Fenn’s Pond, a favorite spot
for ducks. The improvements
discommoded the ducks con-

siderably, but they stayed
around until the rails were
right in their territorv. One

cold night during the Winter of
construction, some of them
tried to cross the cold rails with

. Conn.
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wet feet and wings. Probably
much to their astonishment
they found themselves stuck on
the track, and kind bird lovers
had to cut them loose the next
morning.

In the annals of the Meri-
den, Waterbury & Connecticut
R.ver Railroad as chronicled in
the papers there were many
similar human interest stories.
Many of them indicate changes
in attitudes and customs over
the past 70 years which make
them like peeps into an entirely
different world. Dirt roads,
horses and buggies, immigrants
on the railroad construction,
many of them looked upon as
curiosities by the townspeople,
no electricity to any extent,
very few telephones — almost
the sole modern touch was the
railroad. If you got off the
rails, you either had to take a
horse or walk. Freight had no
way of moving to and from the
depot except by horse-drawn
vehicles.

* % %

ITH the New England con-
nection it was possible to
make some interesting passen-
ger routings, and a West Point
excursion was announced for
September 12, 1889 with
through coaches from Meriden
to Fishkill Landing on the Hud-
son (now Beacon), a sail up
and down the river, with dinner
at Newburgh, and time to visit
West Point. Note was made
that the boat would pass under
“the great cantilever bridge at
Poughkeepsie,” which was one
of the wonders of the East at

that time.

The annual meeting in No-
vember 1889 re-elected the in-
cumbent officers and directors.
Stockholders “were pleased
with the report of President
Wilcox. Business is increasing.”

The road resumed use of

Teriden, Waterpay & v
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—From collection of Elmer Kressly.
Facsimile of a pass signed by President Horace C. Wilcox.
Passes like these were exchanged with officials of all roads

with which the MW&CR enjoyed friendly relations.

Dublin Street station as a ter-
minus for passengers in August
of 1890. Apparently the com-
plications of getting down to
the New England station offset
the advantages. Seventeen min-
utes had been allowed on the
timetable for the extra run of
hardly a mile.

On the 26th of the same
month Horace C. Wilcox, presi-
dent of the Meriden, Water-
bury & Connecticut River Rail-
road, its original promoter, and
head of several large industries,
died. He, more than any other
man, was responsible for the
growth of Meriden from a
small village to a busy city, and
likcwise, there would have
no independent railroad with-
out his efforts. “A Century of
Meriden,” published in 1906,
says of him: “His last and larg-
est enterprise was the organiz-
ing and construction of the
Meriden, Waterbury & Con-
necticut River Railroad. In this
enterprise he invested more
than a million dollars, with
little expectation of any return
except the benefits the com-
munity he loved so much would
receive.”

Mr. Wilcox was born in 1824
on a farm on the Highland
Road, near the point where the
Meriden & Cromwell Railroad
crossed it—before there was a
a single mile of railroad in the
whole state of Connecticut, He
lived to see rails spread all over
the country, including a close
network in his own state, but
his many accomplishments in
other lines, which had brought
him wealth, were hardly
enough to take the sting out of
his uphill struggle for the Meri-
den, Waterbury & Connecticut
River. His death was without a
doubt hastened as a result.

* * x

ORACE WILCOX greatly

loved the Highland section
of Westfield, the place of his
birth, and when the railroad
project was first announced, he
said it was his aim to build a
good sized Summer hotel there
to be ready as soon as passen-
ger service was available. He
was as good as his word, and
for many years the Highland
House, as it was known, ca-
tered to a large clientele. Meri-
den and Waterbury business
men commuted in the Summer
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from their places of business,
while their families enjoyed
Highland Lake. When changes
in the times made it no longer
profitable, the building was
taken over by the newly orga-
nized Highland Country Club.
The original building burned
down sometime after the turn
of the century, but it was re-
placed, and when the country
club disbanded it was made
into apartments.
* * *

N THE EIGHTIES the Boston

to Washington trains went via
Hartford and Waterbury, then
to Fishkill Landing (Beacon)
and across the Hudson by ferry.
One day in December of 1889
there was an accident on the
New York & New England at
Forestville which tied up the
line. The suggestion was made
that the Washington Express
be diverted to the New Haven
Road from Hartford to Meriden
and run over the mountain to
Waterbury on the Meriden,
Waterbury & Connecticut River
Railroad.

Superintendent Farley of the
New York & New England de-
cided against it because of the
possible difficulty of “getting
the long cars to run around
the short curves.” But on the
first of March of the following
year a rockslide occurred at
Greystone, near Terryville, and
this time it was decided to
make the attempt. None of the
details were recorded, but the
papers reported that the Wash-
ington Express went over the
mountain, and in doing so at
least made history for the line.

The directors of the road met
September 19, 1890, and made
E. D. Steele of Waterbury the
president pro-tem, deciding not
to eleect anyone regularly to
that office until the annual
meeting in November. Mean-
while, all kinds of rumors were

—_Collection of Glover A. Snow.

No. 1 AT CROMWELL—Connecticut River in background.

rife on possible sale of the line.
One despatch from Boston had
several Philadelphians and
Bostonians interested in pur-
chasing it to form part of a line
from Pennsylvania, with exten-
sions to New Haven and Hart-
ford. MW & CR officials “would
neither affirm or deny reports
of negotiations.”
*x % *

NE STOCKHOLDER said
that while he knew nothing
official, he heard the rnrad was
for sale to the highest bidder.
He went on: “The road, as is
well known, has never been a
direct paying investment. and
should the sale be made, the
stockholders would not receive
a dollar in return for their hold-
ings. The late H. C. Wilcox
endorsed notes to the amount
of $1,100,000 for which bonds
were finally issued, they being
held as security by Mr. Wilcox.
It is thought that the settle-
ment of the Wilcox estate may
have something to do with the
bonds being placed on the
market.” This man thought the

Consolidated was most likely
the interested party, and that
the sale would not bring half
the amount of the bonds.

This news came out in Octo-
ber, less than a year after glow-
ing reports had appeared in the
papers as to the road’s success
and condition. While Mr. Wil-
cox was alive, it was stipulated
that the bonds should not be
sold, so that the minority stock-
holders would be protected,
but the general opinion seemed
to be that his estate was not
bound by this. As a matter of
fact, if the financial condition
of the road was as pictured
by the anonymous stockholder,
the estate could hardly afford
to hold on any longer.

* * *

HE PUBLIC was informed
that their fair- weather
Waterbury friends had never
lived up to their agreement to
pay for their stock, and that
even some Meridenites had not
come through entirely.
At the 1890 annual meeting,
George H. Wilcox was elected
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FREIGHT CAR MILEAGE paid to other railroads was quite often for less than $1.00.

president to succeed his late
father. A gratifying increase in
bus.ness was reported. Any
negotiations for sale of the
road —if there had been any
—were not referred to in the
published reports. The annual
report to the Railroad Com-
mission late in the same month
showed there were gross earn-
ings of $81,793.07, but total
operating expenses amounted
to $90,743.39. This was, of
course, without provision for
interest on floating and funded
debt.

The number of passengers
carried was 74,439 and tons of
freight moved 108,672, The
number of people employed by

TYPICAL FREIGHT INTERCHANGE BUSINESS
1892

Mileage bills for use of other roads’
cars on the Meriden, Waterbury &
Connecticut River Railroad show that
it handled quite a few freight cars in
interchange. In July, 1892, the road
paid for 9,149 miles, and in August
the total was 8,295. When it is re-
collected that most of such inter-
change at the time came onto the line
at Waterbury and left at Meriden,
or returned to Waterbury from Meri-
den after emptying, only 15 miles
each way, it indicates many individual
car movements.

For example, during the two
months mentioned, there were 56
different railroads or car companies
represented, 34 of which were paid
for less than 100 miles and 22 for
over. The New York & New England
came in for the largest payment,

naturally enough, with over 3,000
miles a month. The Union Tank Line
was paid for almost 500 miles per

MW&CR
of the

month, showing that the
was getting the business
Standard Oil Company.

Car rental in most cases was
figured at three-quarters of a cent
per mile, with some at two cents.
The small mileage accumulated by a
lone car owned by a participating
road meant issuing checks for con-
siderably less than a dollar in many
instances.

Evidence that a substantial amount
of long haul business from the West
was handled is shown in the totzl for
the New York, Lake Erie & Western,
whose cars averaged over 1,000 miles
a month for July and August, 1892,
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the road was given as 107.
There were 10 passenger cars,
154 freight cars and five loco-
motives, and 21,342 cars had
been moved during the year.
Of the operating expense, over
$30,000 was for maintenance
of way, structures and equip-
ment. The road needed more
husiness.

il * *

EARLY in January of 13891
the road met with a serious
tieup when a bridge went down
under a train just east of West-
field. Service from Westfield to
Cromwell was tied up for two
months until the bridge was
replaced. But the road kept on
going through the year and into
1892, hoping that some good
angel, more specifically one of
the bigger lines, would want it
badly enough to buy it.

In February there was sud-
denly a lot of under-cover activ-
ity and many rumors. Finally,
on the 25th, a few facts came
out, accompanied by a vast
amount of speculation. The
fact was that a group, syndi-
cate as they called it in those
days, formed by Frederick H.
Prince of Boston, W. H. Star-
buck, J. A. Bostwick and N.
Erb of New York, had bought
a controlling interest in the
Meviden, Waterbury & Con-
necticut River Railroad. A new

ol
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board of directors had been
elected and Mr. Prince was the
new president. A. Chamberlain,
Samuel Dodd and C. L. Rock-
well of Meriden were still on
the board, joined by Messrs.
Prince, Erb, Bostwick, and Star-
buck of the syndicate and A. S.
Chase and E. D. Steele of
Waterbury. Mr. Erb was vice
president, Mr. Rockwell con-
tinued as secretary and treas-
urer and the operating manage-
ment remained as before.

That was about the extent of
the facts. Rumors took over
from there. One was that a
couple of people had spent the
previous week getting what
they thought were options on
the stock only to find, after
I'rederick H. Prince arrived in
Meriden, ““the deal would not
hold.”” Mr. Prince checked into
Hotel Winthrop on a Sunday
night, and the would-be pur-
chasers did not learn they were
out of luck until 9:30 a. m. on
Tuesday.

* * *

OBODY THOUGHT the syn-
dicate planned to run the
road for itself, and speculation
as to whom they were acting
for was rife. Some said it was
for the Housatonic Railroad,
and in fact quite a little later a
Meriden business man claimed
the only thing that killed this

!
|
|

= ==

}

deal was discovery of a state
law prohibiting one railroad
owning another unless the two
were physically connected.

Reporters quizzed the vice-
president and general manager
of the New York, New Haven
& Hartford, who volunteered
the belief that it was the work
of those interested in the New
York & New England. ‘“‘The
Consolidated never cared for
it,”” he continued. “It was not a
paying company, in fact it gen-
erally ran behind from year to
year.” Mr. Prince was a direc-
tor of the New York & New
England, which strengthed his
belief.

* *
IN BOSTON it was said the

Consolidated was Dbidding
for it before the Prince group
took it over. It was intimated
that Standard Oil was involved
—‘“more important than ap-
pears on the surface,” accord-
ing to the newspapers.

On the whole, a New York &
New England deal looked more
logical, but for a few months
nothing further happened. The
papers did carry more complete
information about the financial
history of the road than they
had before: namely, that when
built in 1888 “it was supposed
that it would pay ... after run-
ning four years without an all-

DUBLIN
STREET
FREIGHT
_ STATION
T - in

2 .3 Waterbury.

. = From
an old
wood cut
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rail route to New York and the
West, the Meriden & Water-
bury was formed. The Meriden
& Cromwell had a capitaliza-
tion of $300,000, the Meriden
& Waterbury of $200,000.

“The Meriden, Waterbury &
Connecticut River is mortgaged
for $1,000,000. Of this $600,-
000 is the first mortgage, and
the remaining $400,000 the
second. Meriden held $375,000
of stock, most of the balance
was in Waterbury. Of the Meri-
den part, the Horace C. Wilcox
estate had $176,000 and the
Meriden Britannia Company
$100,000.”

In other words, Mr. Wilcox
and the company of which he
was head had put up $276,000,
or over half. This in addition
to $1,100,000 in notes and
bonds which he had taken, or
lent his credit for. Thus, anyone
who bought out the Wilcox
Estate and the Meriden Britan-
nia Company would control the
railroad, and that is apparently
what the Prince interests did.

* * L

TRANGELY ENOUGH, even

though Frederick H. Prince
was an important financial fig-
ure in the country and the deal
was engineered by him and in
his name, it later turned out
that he had bought six-sevenths
of the equity for J. A. Bostwick,
and that the remaining one-
seventh was divided among
him and the other three mem-
bers of the syndicate. This was
disclosed because Bostwick
died before the MW & CR could
be leased to anyone and his
estate had to go to court to
obtain permission to carry out
terms of the lease.

The lease in question turned
out to be to the New York &
New England. This touched off
a bitter controversy among
elements in the latter road,
some of whom, headed by

The Meriden, Waterbury & Connecticut River Railroad
from THE HOME OF THE WILCOXES

By E. B. Tyler — Printed about 1888

If we take the cars on the Meriden,
Waterbury & Connecticut River Rail-

\ road at their Center Street Depot,

" and start towards the river terminus,

| we are soon impressed with the 19th
century spirit of business enterprise,
l that was bound to preserve a straight
Y line in the railroad layout, even
| though it carried the road lengthwise
| through a swamp, where piles were
driven, some of them 100 feet, to
secure a permanent foothold.

But hardly have we passed the
swamp, and crossed our Meriden
town limits into the northwest district
of Middletown — better known as
Westfield—when the train, as if in
sympathy with those of its passengers
who admire the beauties of the New
England scenery, checks its headlong
career, and turns to the left and right
and left again, now with ‘Chauncey
Peak standing boldly and defiantly
north, then turning so that you hardly
need move in your seat to get as good
a view of the equally imposing Mount
Higby on the south; now skirting a

Paine, Webber & Co. of Boston,
fought it tooth and nail. Sum-
mons were served by sheriffs
on Prince and Rockwell, presi-
dent and secretary-treasurer,
respectively, of the Waterbury
road, to go to court and testify
as to the Meriden, Waterbury
& Connecticut River Railroad’s
affairs. All this seemed to do
was to postpone the annual
meeting, or rather adjourn it,
until November 23.

Meanwhile the New York &
New England was running the
road, as of October 15, 1892.
It was styled the Meriden
Branch of the Western Division.
Superintendent Crawford was
out of a job. President Parsons
and General Manager Mellen
inspected the road for the
NY&NE about a week before
the transfer—the same Mellen
who later took over presidency
of the New Haven Road and
attempted to gain control of all
transportation in New England.

pond almost concealed by its wooded
banks, past the neat little cemetery,
we pause at the pretty little station
of Highland.

Starting on again, we see the High-
land House on the hill at our left,
and as we follow the shore of another
bright little sheet of water that our
fathers called a pond, but well de-
serves the name of lake, the view
northwards toward the Highland
House is excelled only by the opposite
view southward trom the broad piaz-
zas of the same. With hills on our
right and valleys on our left, through
cut and turn and meadow, we arrive
at the next station, Smith’s Crossing.
Then, as though the beauties of the
place were past and forgotten busi-
ness suddenly remembered, the road
straightens and gets down to work. A
moment’s stop at the next station,
Westfield, where a junction is formed
with a branch of the Consolidated
Railroad, and the train leaves West-
field and whirls its way to Cromwell
and the river.

The stockholders of the New
York & New England met on
November 21st to act on the
lease, as well as one on the
Providence & Springfield. The
group headed by Paine Webber
opposed both leases. President
Parsons said he would stake his
reputation that it was a good
move for the NY&NE. The
MW &CR was not self-sustain-
ing because it was a short line,
and expenses were too heavy,
but the New England got
$65,000 freight business a year
from it. “Those who opposed
the lease were there in the in-
terests of the Consolidated.”

* * *

HE PROPOSITION before

the stockholders was to lease
the MW & CR for 99 years at an
annual rental of $22,500 plus
all charges, taxes and assess-
ments and floating debt up to
$10,000. The opposition had
already asked for a court order
to prevent the lease, alleging
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that the MW&CR was in-
solvent, and that the major-
ity of its stock had been
bought by Prince and two
other directors of the New
York & New England, who
would personally benefit by
the lease. It was further
alleged that the road was in
bad condition, that it had
never earned operating ex-
penses; that its stoek was
valueless and its bonds below
par. The actual financial
condition of the road was
claimed to have been mis-
represented.
*® ES *
HE ANNUAL REPORT of
the Railroad Commission

that Fall said that track was
in generally good condition.
“Some of the wooden struc-
tures at the east end have
been renewed, while some
have been partially filled,
thus reducing the length of
the openings. There are still
some unsound ties in the
structure first built which
need to be renewed . .. The
track on the end of the em-
bankment which was sub-
stituted for the Cheshire
trestles is somewhat out of
I'ne and should be put in
proper shape before the
coming Winter.” This was
at variance with the claim of
the lease opponents.

The exact state of the fi-
nances of the New York & New
England was also a subject of
controversy at the meeting,
with the juggling of figures
claimed and the conduct of the
meeting questioned. After
much tilting, leasing of the
MW &CR was voted by 168,227
out of the 169,677 shares of
stock represented at the meet-
ing, the opposition apparently
having liftle backing from other
ctockholders. -

Grand All Rail

Excursion

To New York City.

Via. Meriden, Waterbury & Connectlcut

River, and New York & New Eag-
land, and New_ York & Northern
Raiiroads.

Saturday, July-23.

Speclal train. Through cars.

Rare for the Round Trip, $1.75.

_ Train leaves Meriden, West

Main street, . . 7:02a m,
Hanover, . . . 7:06
Clwshire street, . . T:l0 -
Southington road, . 7:15

_ Due, 166th street, New York, 11100

Returning, special train leaves
155th street, New York &
Northern rallroad, . 7:00p. m.

"Elovated Railroad Tickets Included in

Above Rates.

Copnections are made on same plat-
form at 163th street with Sixth and
Ninth avenue elevuate:dd trains for South
Ferry, where steamers for Coney lsland
may be taken, The last trzin leaves
South Ferry at 6 p. m. to connect with
speclal traln leaving 155th street at 7 p.
m. Take elevated ratiroad train marked
“Harlem."”

Excursionists can have geveral hours
for shoppiug or visiting the many places
of interest in New York city, or proceed
direct to South FKerry and take steamers

_for Coney Island, Manhattan and West

Brighton Beaches.
" II. L. B. POND,
Gen. Freight and Pass, Agt.
C. M. CRAWFORD. '
Superiateudent.
July 18, 1892, jy20t3

Ad from 1892 Meriden paper.

Two days later the MW & CR
held its adjourned annual
meeting and ratified the lease
unanimously, with 4,000 shares
represented. The new board of
directors consisted of Frederick
Prince, Charles Parsons Jr. of
New York, E. D. Steele, D. S.
Plume and A. S. Chase, all of
Waterbury, Samuel Dodd,
George Rockwell, W. H. Lyon
and Cephas B. Rogers of Meri-
den. Presidént Prince said that

the road would have better
connections, better rolling
stock, and would try to re-
duce the number of grade
crossings, etc.

There were rumors, con-
firmed by Secretary Rock-
well, that it was hoped to
eventually extend the road
to Middletown, but this did
not take place until the New
Haven took over in 1898.

The schemes went further
than that. It was reported in
the press that “The extension
of the line from Cromwell
to Andover 1is practically
agreed upon . .. as well as the
old-time scheme of the New
England to control the lead-
ing routes into New England
for the delivery of coal . ..
there is more fire than smoke
in today’s assertion that the
Pennsylvania Railroad is per-
fecting a gigantic deal. As
the NYNE is on particularly
friendly terms with the
Pennsylvania it will be seen
that control of the MW & CR
will be another important
factor in the Pennsylvania’s
already extensive system of
output.” (Presumably coal).

* * *

NOTHER RUMOR had
the New York & New
England hooked up with the
Reading. For this we refer
you to other histories of the
railroads in New England,
but the claim was that the
NY &NE could shorten its line
from the east to Waterbury by
a substantial number of miles
if run from Andover through
Cromwell and Meriden.

In October, 1892, the press
noted that Engine No. 8 was in
the shop for a complete over-
hauling. This was previous to
ratification of the lease, or the
unofficial taking over by the
NY&NE, so apparently the
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road’s management was doing
its best to keep the equipment

in good condition.
* * *

HE Meriden, Waterbury &
Connecticut River Railroad
Company was no longer an
operating organization, since
its lines had been taken over by
lease, but its corporate exist-
ence continued. The directors
and stockholders must have
been rather apprehensive about
the future, watching the gym-
nastics, mostly financial, of its
lessee, the New York & New
England. This is not the place
to go into details about that
company, except to say that
many people believed every
move it made was to render
itself more attractive—or more
menacing—to the New Haven,
and thus pave the way to selling
out at a good price.

The New England was very
much hampered — practically
crippled—by not having a satis-
factory entrance into New York
City, and many were the efforts
it made to get one. In almost
every instance it was thwarted
by some move of the Consoli-
dated. The common stock was
supposedly worthless, except
for the control of the company
which it carried, and it bobbed
up and down from day to day
and week to week as rumors of
deals and counter-deals swept
the financial market.

The crisis came on December
28, 1893. The NY&NE had not
been paying its interchange
freight bills, and the receiver
for the Philadelphia, Reading
& New England, to whom it
owed $200,000, decided to
force the issue. He slapped an
attachment on the company’s
property in East Hartford,
everything in sight, 27 engines,
the shops, the cars, and even
the incoming trains as fast as
they showed up. As Hartford

was the hub of the system, the
road was practically paralyzed.
Eventually a way to unfreeze
the trains was found, but there
was a terrific legal rumpus.
Presumably the MW & CR kept
running, as there was no stop-
page by attachment in Meriden.

Receivers finally took over
the New York & New England
and the trains continued to roll
over the Cromwell road. It was
the Meriden branch of the
NY&NE and not much in the
news. Little is on record about
the traffic hauled, but in June,
1895, it was reported that a
week’s freight business was
325 cars, an average of 45 a
day. Business in May had been
20% better than the year pre-
vious, and “business was pick-
ing up.”

In July, 1895, the property

FREDERICK H. PRINCE,
3d MW&CR PRESIDENT

THE THIRD PRESIDENT of the
Meriden, Waterbury & Connecticut
River Railroad, and one of the most
colorful people to have been con-
nected with the line, Frederick H.
Prince, died in February, 1953, at
the age of 95.

Mr. Prince was reputed to be the
richest man in New England, and
it was claimed that at one time or
another he owned 46 railroads.
(Controlled, perhaps, would be a
better word, because in our history
we see that he by no means owned
the MW&CR).

In later years he was perhaps
best known for his “Prince plan”
for combining the railroads of this
country into a limited number of
systems. John W. Barriger, former
president of the Monon, and for a
few months in 1953 vice-president
of the New Haven, prepared this
plan for Mr. Prince in 1932.

Mr. Prince was practically the
last of the old school of railroad
financiers, whose operations thread
t-ansportation history of the 1880's,
1890’s and early 1900’s. The little
we know of his operations in our
own Meriden-Waterbury-Cromwell
line indicate that his memoirs, if
ever written and published, would
be very interesting reading.

of the New York & New Eng-
land was sold at auction to the
owners of the second mortgage
bonds, who turned out to be
mostly friends or employees of
the Consolidated. It was the
“New England Railroad,” as of
August 31, 1895. The New
Haven acknowledged it had
control a month later. On the
13th of December all special
rates were abrogated; in other
words, all that the Meriden,
Waterbury &  Connecticut
River Railroad had been built
for was lost!
* * *

AST payment on the lease
had been made September

1, 1894. There were plenty of
rumors that the New Haven
had control of the MW &CR as
well as the New England, but
not until the Cromwell road’s
annual meeting November 12,
1895, did people have anything
to confirm it. At that time the
president of the New Haven,
its vice-president, and some of
its directors were put on the
company board, plus a number
of other known friends of the
Consolidated. Reporters who
asked about it were told to
draw their own conclusions.

It is difficult to follow all the
maneuvers, but there was ap-
parently one million dollars’
worth of MW &CR bonds out-
standing, which the New Eng-
land had acquired below par.

No interest had been paid.
The bondholders foreclosed,
and on May 19, 1896, the road
was sold at auction for $180,-
000 to A. Heaton Robertson of
New Haven. The only other
bid was that of the New Eng-
land for $110,000, but since
the New Haven controlled the
New England, and at the same
time was believed to be behind
Robertson, there was no real
competition.

The New Haven manage-

YA e b st N e b e M
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ment was greatly impressed by
the future of electric traction;
it had just electrified its Nan-
tasket line with the avowed
purpose of finding out all it
could about this new way of
moving trains. It had big plans
for running electric branches
from main line cities to the
small off-main-line towns.
* * *

HILE Charles E. Mellen,

who came along later, is
usually thought of as the New
Haven president who tried to
walk off with everything on
New England rails, it is appar-
ent that the move had been
started before he became the
president.

The Meriden Horse Railroad,
which had tried the Daft sys-
tem of overhead two-wire
trolleys for a time, but went
back to horsecars, had by 18986
converted to electric traction
again, this time to the single
wire system, and changed its
name to the Meriden Electric
Railroad Company. This outfit
apparently had ideas about
interurban transportation, too,
because there was talk of com-
petition between an electrified
MW &CR and a parallel line by
the Meriden Electric.

Almost immediately it was
discovered that the Consoli-
dated had acquired all the
stock of the Meriden Electric
Railroad, so that there might
be co-operation but not compe-
tition. However, the Consoli-
dated name did not go on the
street cars for some years, and
then only briefly, to be followed
bv the Connecticut Company.
The New Haven has, therefore,
been in street transportation
since at least 1896.

Mr. Robertson was very coy
about his Meriden, Waterbury
& Connecticut River purchase,
but nobody thought that after
getting on the board of direc-

tors of the Waterbury road the
Consolidated was going to let
the property slip away. The
next news, therefore, was
rather unexpected.

With less than 24 hours’
notice, on May 30, 1896, it was
announced that as of that eve-
ning the New England Railroad
(which was still operating the
MW&CR) had given orders to
close it down completely.

“It is reported that the chief
reason is that it can only be run
as a steam road at a loss, and
that it will remain closed until
the Consolidated people get
ready to equip it with elec-
tricity next year. Two specials
were run over the line today.
The first contained officials of
the New England taking a fare-
well look.” Another newspaper

DURlNG THE PREPARATION
of this history two of the men who
helped to make it possible, and who
would have been most pleased to
see it completed and in print,
passed away.

One, Mr. D. W. Peckham of
Middlefield, Conn., a retired dis-
patcher of the New Haven Road,
died in February, 1953. He was
especially active in getting photo-
graphs, and several of his pictures
will be found in this history. He is
missed by many railfans and others
who enjoyed calling on him and
reviewing old times.

The other, Mr. C. B. Burr of
Derby, Conn., who passed away in
December, 1952, was responsible
for our being able to reproduce
some of the old documents on the
Meriden, Waterbury & Connecticut
River Railroad, and also for records
which have enabled us to give an
almost complete roster of rolling
stock.

Mr. Burr had a notable collection
of papers and photographs, some of
which will go to the Baker Library
of Harvard University. He was a
quiet, reserved, but most friendly
man, and generous to a fault. His
sudden death interrupted plans he
had for other histories similiar to
tbis, the next on the docket being
the Air Line; the writer was to be
given access to Mr. Burr’s remark-
able resources.

L . |

article gave the mission of the
second special: “A train went
over the road and at every
switeh the locks were removed.
All loose railroad ties along the
I'ne were gathered in, and all
the coal in the depots and the
yards. The road is shut up as
tight as a clam.”

Not only that, but one coal
dealer, who had a full car on
his sidetrack, saw the switcher
come and take it way without
giving him a chance to unload.
The prize was a grain dealer
who had already started to un-
load a car of grain. The switch
engine carried the car off half
unloaded, with the dealer’s
scales which he had been using
still inside. All such cars were
taken to the New Haven’s yard
in Meriden and the consignees
were given the privilege of un-
loading there instead of on
their own sidings on the closed
railroad.

x % %

HE NEXT couple of years

brought no operation on the
Meriden, Waterbury & Con-
necticut River Railroad, but
there were plenty of rumors
and accusations. The Legisla-
ture was petitioned repeatedly
to compel whoever owned the
line to run trains. Robertson
insisted he had purchased the
road ‘“for individuals,” but al-
most nobody believed him. He
claimed that the charter didn’t
require running trains at any
stated times, so he ran none at
all.

Several groups or their legal
representatives, including peti-
tioners from Westfield and
Cheshire, appeared before the
Legislature’s committee on rail-
roads in the Spring of 1897,
but were told that all the State
could do would be to revoke
the charter. Robertson said that
if that were done he would still
have the land and equipment,
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but be unable to operate the
railroad. He “would do the best
he could toward running the
road now.”

Whatever his best may have
been, there were no tangible
results for over a year. Finally
the Railroad Commission, in
1898, told Robertson the char-
ter would be lost if service did
not start by Summer of that
year. The State also placed an
assessment of $12,000 on the
line.

Middletown, Meriden &
Waterbury Railroad Co.

HIS brought action, and on
July 1st a new corporation
was formed, under the name of
The Middletown, Meriden &
Waterbury Railroad Company,
with a capitalization of $100,-
000. Robertson had 150 shares,
the balance being in the hands
of people who might be called
“friends” of the New Haven
Road. They were also the di-
rectors of the new corporation.
One of them told a reporter,
“The thing in a nutshell is this:
the road has been reorganized
and is to be leased to the Con-
solidated, and they are to run
it. Repairs are already being
made.” The lease ran for a
vear. at a price of $1,000.

The section between West-
field and Cromwell, 3.5 miles,
was abandoned. Railroad offi-
cials said it would cost between
212,000 and $15,000 to put the
rest of the road “‘in comfortable
and safe” condition for passen-
ger service. Trains were to run
into Middletown from West-

field over the Middletown-
Berlin branch of the New
Haven, instead of going to

Cromwell.

It was announced that an
unusual kind of car would be
used in the service. Instead of

a locomotive-hauled train there
would be a combined engine,
baggage room and coach all in
one long car, seating about 40
passengers, no smoker, “much
like third rail cars.” It was
claimed that one of these cars
on the Milford branch of the
New York & New England
had made a speed on trial
“equal to 70 miles an hour.”
“Rlectricity might be adopted
later.” John L. Billard of Meri-
den, one of the directors, said
that the road probably would
not handle freight for the time
being. H. L. B. Pond, MW &CR
man, would be superintendent.

What actually happened was
gquite at variance with all these
plans. In spite of the statement
of the railroad director in July
that repairs were already being
made, a work ftrain ‘‘on the
cleanup job” did not start until
November 16th. Some months
before, President Clark of the
New Haven Road had run over
the line with Robertson and a
group of officials in Clark’s
private car to check the condi-
tion of the road. It was stated
in the press that this was the
only train to operate during
cessation of service on the line

All of a sudden there was a
great fever to get the road
going. On November 22nd
President Clark once more in-
spected the line with numerous
other officials, using one of
the Consolidated’s ‘‘standard
observation cars.” They man-
aged to make it to Waterbury
and back, but on the Westfield
end a pile of sand across the
track derailed one truck, and
a half hour was consumed get-
ting it back on the track.

* x *

HE NEW steam car never

materialized, and the first
train on December 5, 1898, with
New Haven locomotive No. 142
and a combine coach, went
from Meriden to Waterbury,
the Middletown end not being
ready. There were five passen-
gers on the train that left a*
7 a. m. and arrived in Water-
bury at 7:50. The return from
Waterbury began at 8:50 a. m.,
again with five people aboard
(whether they were the same
ones or not, the newspaper
account does not state). At
Hanover Park they were
stopped by a derailed work
train engine, and the passen-
gers were transferred to a flat

Meridn, Watarbury & Ocaa. River Raiload,
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car for the rest of the ride to
West Main Street.

The plan of not carrying
freight was also given up, and
the trains ran mixed. Mr. Pond,
who was slated to run the road,
almost missed out, but eventu-
ally he was rehired. He had
been sort of caretaker for Mr.
Robertson during the shutdown.

January 2, 1899, was the day
slated for through serviece from
Waterbury to Middletown. In
spite of the rather inauspicious
start of the Meriden-Waterbury
service, it was reported in the
latter part of December, the
month of reopening, that pas-
scnger traffic had been very
good. “Both cars are being
filled on trains each day. Mon-
day had 400, but that was way
above the average.”

An interesting news item ap-
peared in the Meriden papers
on January 2, 1899:

The first train from Middletown
over the Middletown, Meriden and
Waterbury RR left there at 6:20 this
morning, and arrived here at 7 A. M.
There was no special train from
Waterbury this afternoon to the polo
game in this city, as enough cranks
in the Brass City did not secure
tickets for a special. About 100 people
from this city left for Waterbury on
the noon train today.

The superintendent of the
road said that business was “‘as
good as could be expected,”
and on February 3, 1899, it was
said that “travel on the road
since it was opened has steadily
improved. The trains are carry-
ing about 100 passengers a
day.” There was quite a little
freight to be carried and cars
to be switched, and the market
gardens along the line shipped
their produce into Waterbury
and Meriden by train. How-
ever, to discourage the agita-
tion for electrification, it was
given out that much money had
to go into ties, bridge timbers,
stations, ete., “to bring them up
to standard.”

* * *

HERE was considerable dis-

cussion in the papers around
1899-1900 about the likelihood
of conversion to third rail oper-
ation and more frequent service
as had been done between Hart-
ford and Bristol. A Middletown
correspondent of a Meriden
paper said that enough im-
provements were to be made in
the line “so that there can be
no complaint on which to base
a petition to the General As-

View from Highlam,{.- ;‘ilaiion, Looking .

sembly for construction of an
electric road.”

With no motor car competi-
tion, the railroad continued to
do well. Excursions were an
important source of business.
The November 7, 1899, issue of
one of the Meriden papers
speaks of 2,200 spectators at a
polo game in Hanover Park, be-
tween Meriden and Waterbury.
IFour hundred of these people
came over in two special trains
from Waterbury, {lourishing
cowbells and blowing horns.
On this same date, incidentally,
it was reported that the Middle-
town, Meriden & Waterbury
Railroad had just passed into
dircct control of the New
Haven Road, by action at a
meeting of the stockholders.
However, the New Haven con-
tinued to lease the road by the
year until 1902, when the lease
was made for 50 years. The
tracks from Westfield to Crom-
well were not actually torn up
until 1903.

The lease made in 1902 was
on different terms than the pre-
vious yearly ones. In place of
the 31,000 figure there was a
payment of one dollar per

. ' From
an
old

post

card.
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share per year on the stock,
plus the principal and interest
on all outstanding indebted-
ness, taxes, charges, etc. This
was apparently only prepara-
tory to the final move in 1905,
when the Middletown, Meriden
& Waterbury was merged with
the New Haven and completely
lost its identity.

A Waterbury paper humor-
ously referred to the MM&W
as “The Boston Short Line,”
calling attention to the fact that
Boston to Waterbury via Meri-
den and Middletown was four
miles shorter than via Hartford,
and warning Hartford that if it
didn’'t behave Waterbury could
short-circuit them. It further
commented: “If ten years ago
anybody had predicted that in
1898 the Consolidated system
would have included the New
York & New England lines and
the Meriden, Waterbury &
Connecticut River property,
people would have thought he
was crazy, but perbaps it is all
for the best.”” Actually, the
seeds of trouble were being
sown, but nobody realized it at
the time. There were a few
people who wondered about
the complete safety of the usual
8% New Haven dividend, but
for the time being the combined
system seemed able to make a
go of it.

* * *

HEN the New Haven Rail-

road electrified its Nantas-
ket Beach branch in 1896, the
road at the time fully expected
to eventually electrify its whole
system. At the time a company
official predicted that within
10 years electric trains would
be running between New York
and Boston. When the Meriden
and Waterbury line was re-
vived in 1898, it was stated that
eventually electrification would
take place, and that steam was
only temporary.

By 1906 the New Haven was
apparently convinced that the
electrification could best be
handled by overhead wires in-
stead of the third rail system
in use on the Hartford-Bristol
run and New Britain-Berlin
branch. The road moved swiftly
to equip its Berlin to Middle-
town branch and the Meriden
to Middletown part of the for-
mer MW &CR (via Westfield)
with overhead wires. High
speed cars were used, giving
hourly service. They were an
immediate success. Instead of
running to West Main Street
station, a connection was made
at Brookside Park with the city
trolley tracks in Pratt Street,
and the New Haven Road’s
Meriden station was the termi-
nus for the Mir’i.‘"")w‘n. ’"1te.1_'-

ACCIDENTS

WHEN the New York & New
England Railroad took over the
Meriden, Waterbury & Connecticut
River under lease, some of the
press reports noted that the road
had had a number of costly mis-
haps in its career. Actually, there
doesn’t seem to have been much
trouble until the building of the
Waterbury extension. The derail-
ment of No. 1 near the Red Bridge
in South Meriden has already been
mentioned.

In February, 1889, the 10:26
train at Cromwell, with two freight
cars and a coach, left the rails near
the station, and poked its nose over
the river in such a way that a little
farther would have put it in the
water. The cars stayed on the track,
and nobody was badly hurt. There
were no passengers in the coach.
The fireman got a little banged
up, and the locomotive required
some repairs.

The worst accident occurred on
July 19, 1889. The train which left
West Main Street at 5:55 p. m. for
Cromwell split the switch at the
North End crossing of the New
Haven Road. Four freight cars, the

engine and tender fell 30 feet. The

engine turned a complete somer-

- sault and came to rest under the

bridge. The tender fell on the
engine, and one box car landed on
them both., The coach and combina-
tion cars left the rails, plowing

urban cars. While the Berlin-
Middletown service was run by
the New Haven Road, the Meri-
den to Middletown service was
operated by the Connecticut
Company, the street railway
subsidiary, even though both
services used the same track
between Westfield and Middle-
town.
* * *

OR some reason the Water-

bury end was not electrified.
A New Haven-Waterbury serv-
ice via Cheshire was begun in
1904 after building a connec-
tion from the Canal Line tracks
ty the MW&CR at Cheshire.
This service was well patro-
nized for a couple of years
before New Haven-Waterbury
trolley service was established.
In 1909 the Meriden-Water-
bury schedule was cut to one
train in the morning to Water-
bury, with the return to Meri-
den in late afternoon. There
were recurrent rumors of elec-
trification, but it was never
carried out,

At the beginning of World
War I there was talk of making
more use of the line because of
the enormous congestion of
freight traffic, but nothing was
done. Later, when the United
States got into that war, the
Ne¢w Haven Road, being short
of manpower, equipment and
about everything else, simply
discont'nued service between
Meriden and Waterbury. On
June 24, 1917, trains stopped
running.

In those days permission of
the Public Service Commission
was not required, nor was that
of the Interstate Commerce
Commission needed. Just how
many people were inconven-
ienced is a question. There are
rumors that one man went to
Washington to complain, but as
the ICC couldn’t do anything
about it, this seems doubtful.
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A man who traveled on the line
just before World War I says
he thinks a half dozen would
be about the average passenger
list, although at one time about
1912 a jewelry plant at the
Cheshire Street station (near
the Meriden city line) used so
many workers who commuted
that an extra car had to be put
on the train.

* * *

OLLOWING discontinuance
of service in 1917, track-
age west of West Main Street
was frequently used for ecar
storage, particularly for those
in bad order, and tramps found
in them made-to-order hide-
outs. Occasionally they would
set a car on fire, and the Meri-
den Fire Department would
have to come to the rescue,

In 1920 the Interstate Com-
merce Act was amended to
require assent of the ICC for
abandonment, so that in 1924
when the New Haven Road de-
cided it wanted to tear up the
tracks, permission of Washing-
ton was required. Application
was filed to abandon that por-
tion from East Farms Station,
Waterbury, to a point 1,000
west of West Main Street bridge
(No. 2.69) Meriden, a distance
of 11.78 miles. This left about
six miles in Waterbury for
switching purposes, and all the
trackage east of West Main
Street. Permission was granted
February 25, 1924, and the
tracks were taken up during
the year.

Meriden-Middletown hourly
interurban service was contin-
ued until 1927, when buses
took over. However, Meriden-
Middletown bus service was via
Route 6A and trolley service
continued to run as far as West-
field until 1932 when all street
railway service in Meriden was
abandoned. There was no high-

way route that could serve the
section traversed by the old
Meriden & Cromwell line and
the area was left without public
transportation.

The old Meriden & Cromwell
tracks are still maintained from
Meriden to the York Hill Trap
Rock Quarry, and have been
renewed with 107-pound re-lay
rail in recent years, with tie
plates and creosoted ties. One
of the peculiarities of the line
in the old days was its con-

ACCIDENTS

through the ballast until they hit
the bridge abutment, where they
stopped.

Nobody was hurt in the coaches,
but the engineer, fireman and
brakeman were injured, and the
fireman eventually died of pneu-
monia brought on by the accident.
It was raining hard at the time,
and fire from the engine which
caught some of the splintered
wood, was extinguished before it
did any great harm.

A spike was found wedged be-
tween the rail and the switch point,
and sabotage was alleged. The
coroner was not so sure, but the
road got the superintendents of
both the Consolidated and the New
York & New England Roads to
testify that the wrecking was, in
their opinion, a deliberate act.

This theory was given substance

WRECK AT RED BRIDGE on 10th

of August, 1888, showing ‘‘shoo-
fly”’ track around Meriden & Crom-
well No. 1 which is being blocked

up for re-railing.

struction with rail joints oppo-
site, so that the interurban cars
could be heard for a long dis-
tance as the wheels bumped
over the parallel connections,
particularly when the track
needed attention. Probably the
roadbed is better today than it
ever was when regular service
was maintained.

The tracks to the old Center
Street yards are used for indus-
trial switching, mostly for the
New Departure plant of Gen-
eral Motors, which occupies all
the land in that vicinity. The
tracks in Waterbury are like-
wise used for industrial switch-
ing, and the Dublin Street sta-
tion was not closed to less-than-
carload freight until July, 1950.
The tracks in Meriden are also
maintained as far as West Main
Street to take care of sidings
in that vicinity. The overall
distance from York Hill Quarry
to West Main Street is about
5! miles, with a mile or more
for the Center Street spur.

The need for freight facilities
like the old Meriden, Water-
bury & Connecticut River Rail-
road largely passed with the
advent of over-the-road truck-
ing. But many of those who
remember the old railroad find
it rather sad to see most of the
roadbed abandoned and over-
grown with trc =s and bushes.
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by the finding, about a month later
in Cromwell, of five ties so placed
across the track near a curve that
if a trackman had not discovered
them they would have caused an-
other wreck. This latter attempt
was kept secret for some time, but
eventually it got into the papers.

The road offered a reward of
$1,000 for evidence which would
convict the “fiend” who had been
responsible for the North End de-
railment, but there is nothing to
indicate that anvone claimed it.

The locomotive was shipped
back to Schenectady for repairs,
which would indicate that No. 4
was the one involved.

In September, 1890, a pair of
horses crossing a bridge east of
Southington Road station became
frightened, and bolted through the
railing, taking wagon and driver
down onto the roof of a passing
train. They fell off to the ground,
the driver and one horse uninjured,
but the wagon and the other horse
were a total loss.

Southington Road was the scene
of a1 much more serious accident
on November 21, 1890, when Train

No. 2 was wrecked just east of
the station at 6:15 a. m., injuring
two men, one of whom later died
from the effects. .

A brake beam from’ a coal car
dropped. The car kept to the rails
until the Honey Pot River bridge
was crossed and .the 400-ft. em-
baukment following it was reached,
when it left the tracks and carried
seven cars with it out of the 13-
car train. Before the train could be
stopped, the coupling broke and
two coal cars went down the 30-ft.
bank, with a half dozen other cars
piled up along the track. The coach
and three freight cars were left on
the rails, and the engineer, having
loaded the injured men into the
coach, carried them to Meriden,

On the 12th of January, 1891,
the rains and melting snow were
too much for the bridge over the
Little River, just east of Westfield
station. The engineer of the early
morning train from Cromwell
found visibility at 6:30 on this
particular day even poorer than
usual, but as he came to the bridge
he could see that it had sunk two
or three feet, He whistled for the
brakemen and reversed the engine,
but before the brakes could take
Fold, the locomotive, tender and

smoking car crashed through into
what was said to be 15 to 20 feet
of raging torrent filled with ice
cakes. The coach was left on the
tracks at the bank edge.

There was one passenger in the
smoker, and he, together with the
conductor, engineer, fireman and
two brakemen, were precipitated
into the icy water. The engine re-
mained upright, with only the top
of the stack and cab visible, and
the tender was completely sub-
merged. The smoker was carried
by the current 300 feet down the
stream.

Miraculously enough, nobody was
killed or seriously injured. The fire-
man managed to get to shore first,
pulling himself up on the bridge
timbers. He saw the engineer
struggling in the water, and put
out a plank which his comrade
caught hold of, and was dragged
ashore,

The conductor, although a good
swimmer, was handicapped by his
heavy Winter clothing and the icy
water and went under twice, prac-
tically giving himself up for lost.
By a mighty effort he grabbed a
bush on the shore. Feeling himself
slipping, he called for help. Fortu-
nately, the two brakemen who had
previously managed to get out
themselves, heard him and pulled
him up on the bank.

The passenger in the smoker was
carried several hundred feet down
the river, but was final.y rescued.
They were all taken to a nearby
house, where the most exhausted
were put to bed, and the rest lay
around and dried out.

The trackwalker responsible for
the section claimed the bridge was
intact at 6 a. m., but people nearby
said they had heard noiscs which
led them to believe otherwise. They
had no explanation as to why they
had not notified anyone, except
that they supposed the trackwalker
would check up.

There were a number of con-
flicting stories as to the condition
of the bridge before the freshet
washed it out. It was of wood, with
wood cribbing on the bank ends.
Some claimed it had been held to-
gether with “iron rope” and had
been unfit for use. Be that as it

NORTH END CROSSING WRECK
of July 19, 1889, showing four
derailed freight cars and tende~ on
its side under box car. Locomotive
MNo. 4 is on bottom of the pile-up,
Bank at right is connecting link
from New Haven track in lower
foreground. ’
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FROM a New Haven Railroad timetable of 1900

when service was given between Waterbury

and Middletown.
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may, the road seemed rather tardy
about making repairs—perhaps be-
cause the river boats were not
running and there was little busi-
ness out of Cromwell. Nothing
could be done until the engine was
fished out of the river, and it
stayed in the water until February
9th, when it was hauled into an
adjoining field, but was not re-
railed immediately.

It was then reported that another
wooden bridge was to be erected,
but after considerable agitation
the company had an iron brilge
fabricated by the Berlin Iron
Bridge Company, and this was put
in place on the 13th of March, two
months after the accident. Through
service from Cromwell to Water-
bury was then resumed.

Accidents were expensive in
many ways. Aside from the cost
of repairs, the road had no reserve
of power to substitute, and had to
rent equipment if its own were
damaged. The wreck at Red Bridge
on August 10, 1888, put Engine
No, 1 out of commission for over
a month, and necessitated rental of
Hartford & Connecticut Western’s
No. 6 from August 11th to Sep-
tember 15th, at a cost of $465.

Wrecks smashed cars of other
1oads, which had to be paid for. |
The Cromwell Road received a bill |
from the New Haven for its hox r
car No. 2123, “destroyed near
Meriden,” about October 31, 1887.
Evidently there was some discus- \
sion on the subject, because the
bill was not paid until July, 1888,
and was figured on the original cost
of the car in 1880, less 6 depre- |
ciation per year, making a net loss
of $285.33 for the Meriden, Water-
bury & Connecticut River Railroad.

June 10, 1900, | 991 {995
ARRIVEA. M [P M ] A
400;. way daily, with freights
3601 . and excursions as needed.
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SCHEDULES

The Meriden & Crom-
well Railroad started with
two passenger trains each

This service was increased
to three trains each way
in the Summer of 1886.
With the opening of the
Waterbury extension, a
fourth train was added.

Over the years there
were variations. At one
period shortly after the
Waterbury line was opened, there
were three passenger trains and one
freight from Cromwell straight
through to Waterbury, but in the Fall
of the year this was changed so that
two of the passenger trains termi-
nated in Meriden.

Upon the opening of the connection
with the New York & New England
in Waterbury, passenger trains ran
through to the New England station,
although they also stopped at Dublin
Street. This was to give good connec-
tions with trains for Danbury, Win-
sted and points west. This service was
in effect only from from April 8,
1889, to August 5, 1890, when Dublin
Street again became the terminus.

A great deal of effort was made to
attract special parties and groups.
Lodges, clubs and church organiza-
tions were given special trains. Dur-
ing State Fair Week in Meriden a
temporary station was set up near the
Fair grounds. The Hartford Camera
Club once made a trip from one end
of the line to the other, and later
presented the management with an
album of scenes they had taken.

The timetable of December, 1892,
showed a fourth train between Meri-
den and Cromwell. On the other hand,
when the New York & New England
took over, and up to the time they
gave up the lease, there were three
trains, one of which ran between
Meriden and Waterbury only. When
the line was revived as the Middle-
town, Meriden & Waterbury Railroad,
two mixed trains were put on each
way. (All scheduled passenger trains
ran ‘“mixed” if there were freight
cars to haul).

In 1904 interurban trolleys were
beginning to give the New Haven
Railroad competition in many parts
of the state, and to forestall this as
much as possible the road tried to
improve its local service. In that year,
taking advantage of the fact that the
shortest rail distance between New
Haven and Waterbury was via the

Canal Line to Cheshire and thence
via the Meriden, Waterbury & Con-
necticut River to Waterbury — 26
miles as against 32 miles via Derby
and Ansonia—a new service of four
trips a day was begun over the route
via Cheshire.

This New Haven-Waterbury sched-
ule caused the building of a curved
connection between the Canal Line
and the Meriden-Waterbury line.
Previously there had been no physical
connection between the two lines, as
the Meriden-Waterbury line crossed
the old canal and its railroad line
successor on bridges—iron over the
railroad and a stone culvert over the
canal. East of this crossing there was
quite a high fill with one of the rail-
road’s most ambitious structural jobs,
the bridge over Honeypot Brook.

Running time on this New Haven-
Cheshire-Waterbury route was 50
minutes northbound and 45 minutes
southbound; five minutes extra were
needed to c¢limb from Cheshire to
Summit. The service was immediately
popular, and probably would have
continued to be so if an even more
direct trolley line had not been opened
up, cutting both running time and
fares. Trains were given up in 1906,
but while they lasted, the west end
was busier than it had ever been.

Up to 1906 there were still two
trains a day each way from Middle-
town and Meriden to Waterbury, but
with the opening of trolley service
on the tracks between Meriden and
Middletown, trains were run to what
was called East Meriden Junction
(where the Waterbury line joined
the original Meriden & Cromwell
tracks from Center Street) to give a
connection with the new interurbans,
However, it was not long before the
steam trains made West Main Street
their terminal.

Excursions continued to bring in
revenue. One particularly fruitful
time was Meriden’s Centennial Week,
in June 1906, when a land-office busi-
ness was done from both Middletown
and Waterbury to Meriden,

The Meriden-Waterbury service
was cut back to one train a day each
way between 1909 and 1910. The
exact time schedule varied on this
run, but in general it was based on a
morning train from Meriden, and a
return from Waterbury at night.
During the day the engine and crew
would do the switching in Waterbury
to industries on the line such as
Scovill. This schedule continued until
trains stopped running June 24, 1917,
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TICKET issued by the New
Haven Railroad good be-
tween Meriden and Waterbury.

SCHEDULED passenger trains were al-

ways “mixed” (passenger and freight)
when there was freight to haul on the
Meriden, Waterbury & Connecticut River
—even after the New Haven Railroad
took over. The train shown above at West
Cheshire station shortly after the Water-
bury extension was opened, was a typical
MW &CR passenger train. In the scene
below, the same West Cheshire station is
shown about 1900, with a New Haven
Railroad train at the station.

Fares, Notes

Passenger fares on the

Meriden, Waterbury &
Connecticut River Rail-
road in 1888 were as

follows: Meriden to Wa-
terbury 50 cents, to Crom-
well 30 cents, to Highland
House 15 cents, Westfield
25 cents, West Cheshire
25 cents, Summit (Pros-
pect) 35 cents. Passenger
business was good, too.

A June 1, 1903, article
in the Meriden Journal
mentioned over 6,000
people at a balloon ascen-
sion at Hanover Park,
saying that there were
1.000 excursionists from
Waterbury — another in-
dication of what the road
did in excursion business.

In the days of the
the horse and wagon,
short hauls by railroad

were common and profit-
able. As an exaxmple, the
Meriden Ice Company,
ice houses on Hanover
Lake at South Meriden
and Highland Lake in
Westfield, found it most
convenient to use the new
railroad for transporting
ice into Meriden, horse
carts picking up their
loads at the local plat-
form,
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ROSTER OF EQUIPMENT

PASSENGER CARS

Car No. Type Date Ordered Builder © Cost
10 Baggage-caach combination ... April, 1884 Wason
11 Baggage-coach combination ...l Dec. 30, 1887 Pullman $3,700
20 Day coach, first ¢lass ....ooooivveiiiiiiii Dec. 30, 1887 Pullman $4,500
21 Day coach, first class ..c....oooiiiiiiiii e, Dec. 30, 1887 Pullman $4,500
22 Day coach, first class ....ccooiiiiiirii Dec. 30, 1887 Pullman $4,500
23 Day coach, first class .....coooovciriinii e Dec. 30, 1887 Pullman $4,500

Excursion coach (ex-Philadelphia & Reading No. 12) (delivered July, 1888) $900
Excursion coach (ex-Philadelphia & Reading No. 344) (delivered July, 1888) 3900
Excursion coach (ex-Philadelphia & Reading No. 360) (delivered July, 1888) 8900

Excursion coach (ex-Chicago & Alton No. 501) (delivered July, 1888) $900
FREIGHT CARS

No of Cars Price
in Lot Type Date Ordered Builder for Lot
1-3-5-7-9 Platform flat cars ($395 each) .................. Nov. 1883 Wason $2,035
11 Flat CATS ..ooiviriiii e June 30, 1884 Wason $4,510
4 Flat cars oo July 31, 1884 Wason $1,640
10 Drop bottom coal cars .....oooooevieeviiiinn. Aug. 22, 1884 Wason $4,250
8 Drop bottom coal cars ........ccoovveiiiriininnn, Sept. 9, 1884 Wason $3,400
1 22-inch side board coal car ... Sept. 15, 1884 Wason $425
6 36-inch stde board coal cars .......ccooeeeeii. Sept. 15, 1884 Wasn $2,5680
6 BOX CArs o Nov. 5, 1884 Wason $2,940
20 34-ft. flat cars with stake pockets .............. Scpt. 23, 1887  Lebanon Mfg. Co. $7,000
20 20-ton 30-inch side board coal cars ............ Deec. 30, 1837 Pullman each $387.50
55 20-ton 36-inch side board coal cars ............ Dec. 30, 1887 Pallman each $382.00
10 20-t0n DOX CaAIS teriii e Dec. 30, 1887 Pullman each 847250

Form 1701, 21-2 88. 1000, M,

CFRTI JCATE OF DELIVERY.

1" HEREBY (,FRT]F\/)mt I have this day received from PuLLMan’s Parace (ar CompaNy, PuLLMAN Car W oRKs,

i "

P\.ILLMA,‘, Tir., at 1170 a7 ; ) o o
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Cr . ) A : .
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Facsimile of delivery order which gives the numbers of 40 coal cars which were built by Pullman.
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ROLLING STOCK

Five freight cars were or-
dered, or authorized, in August
1883 when construction first
began on the Meriden & Crom-
well. Forty freight cars ( mostly
for coal) and a passenger coach
were reportedly ordered from
Wason in Springfield in April
of 1884. By July of the same
year the road had received
several cars for use in construe-
tion, although track had been
laid for only six miles.

Before the Waterbury ex-
tension was built, it was esti-
mated that four passenger cars
and one combination baggage-
coach would be needed; but of
those finally obtained, com-
bination car No. 10 was the
only one purchased new from
Wason in 1884. The Meriden &
Cromwell apparently got along
with this one car, plus occa-
sional rentals from the Hart-
ford & Connecticut Valley, or
some other neighboring road.
On opening day two coaches
were borrowed in this manner,
and cost $25 — $12.50 apiece
for use and hauling from Hart-
ford to Cromwell and back
before and after the opening
ceremonies.

The extension to Waterbury
called for more cars, and after
getting comparative figures
from Wason and Pullman, with
much correspondence and visit-
ing back and forth, the road
made on contract with Pullman
on December 30, 1887, for four
first class passenger coaches,
one combination car and a
number of freight cars.

In these days of $100,000
coaches, it is interesting to note
that the best the Pullman Com-
pany had to offer came to
$4,500 each, and the combina-
tion car cost the railroad only
$3,700.

NOTES

The equipment register of the New York & New England Railroad in
September, 1893, gave a total of 155 freight cars on the Meriden, Waterbury
& Connecticut River Railroad as follows:

...................... 40,000 18

2-36 (even) Box cars, 30 and 40-ft,

1-5 (odd) FIAt CATS wvvveveriirrcememierieireeerierniieereireenanes 40,000 3

7-77 (odd) COoAl CATS eeveeeereeriereereeeeeee e 40,000 36
79-89  (odd) Drop bottom coal ecars .......oocoeoeiniiennces 40,000 6
91-129 (odd) Flat CATS ceveeeiiee i ireeieiieeieerteecnieerbneeeenns 40,000 17
131-169 (odd) Coal cars, 34-ft. covvrrieviirrrieciree e 50,000 20
171-279 (odd) Drop bottom coal cars, 34-ft. .............. 50,000 55

Nos. 7-53 and 57-77 had movable sideboards, No. 55 had a derrick.
Nos. 97, 111 and 123 were vacant. (Probably scrapped after damage in

wrecks).

The new cars were numbered
20, 21, 22, 23; the combine 11,
For excursion business the road
bought Philadelphia & Reading
coaches Nos. 12, 344 and 360,
also Chicago & Alton No. 501,
from E. H. Wilson & Company
of Philadelphia, for $900 each.
These were delivered at the
time of the opening of the
Waterbury extension, in July
of 1888, and probably were in
need of shopping, to judge
from the references to them in
the newspapers. Excursion cars
were apparently not supposed

\ .

N

N
[

WESTBOUND “mixed” train along the Quinnipiac River, South
Meriden, in the early 1900’s.

N, .

to be much more than transpor-
tation in those days.

There were thus 10 passen-
ger cars owned, and the New
York & New England evidently
absorbed them into its own
roster, as they do not appear in
any inventory of rolling stock
after the NY&NE took over.

Rolling stock of the Meriden,
Waterbury & Connecticut River
Railroad is said to have been
sold to the New Haven Railroad
for $21,444 when taken over
from the New York & New
England in September, 1897.
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ARRIVAL OF THE NEW CARS — ELEGANT SPECIMENS
OF CAR MAKERS’ ART FROM THE PULLMAN COMPANY

Standing on the sidetrack at the
Center Street railroad station are the
fine, brand new passenger coaches
and one combination passenger and
baggage car which are so extra-
ordinarily neat and handsome that
they would attract attention among
the finest in the country.

They are the luxurious conveyances
to 0e used in transporting humanity
over the hill and far away to our
sister city Waterbury on the Nauga-
tuck., They arrived this morning
(February 14, 1888)—that is, three
did—and the remainder came over
this afternoon from Cromwell. Duving
the day they have been visited by
many stockholders and others inter-
ested, and nothing but praise has
bcen heard for the management in
providing such handsome coaches,

The cars are painted dark olive
creen, and the trimmings are finely
shown off by bright gold leaf. The
length of the cars is a little greater
than that of ordinary passenger
coaches, and the trucks and running
gear are of the the easiest and most
serviceable make. The wheels on
either end of the car are so set in the
bearings as to be farther apart than
ordinarily, making the rumbling
sound less obnoxious, The jar of the

passenger car is reduced to a mini-
mum by the use of both spiral and
eliptical springs as in the very finest
drawing room cars. The name at the
top covers the entire length, and well
it may. Here it is: *“Meriden, Water-
bury & Connecticut River Railroad
Company.” The cars are equipped
with the most approved Westinghoase
air brakes and connections.

Inside the cars present an even
more luxurious appearance. The
seats, 14 on each side, are of the most
comfortable pattern, of the Hale &
Kilbourn make, having an extra num-
ber of special springs so arranged in
wooden frames as to be very durable,
not solid stuffed, but open under-
neath, The arms are of carved cherry,
and the sides of the car are of a very
pretty cherry finish. The upper and
lower decks of the roof have a maple
veneer headlining, which are very
ornamentally painted. The whole ap-
pearance of the interior of the car is
very cheerful and light.

The saloons are models of their
kind. In the ladies’ toilets are ar-
ranged wash basins set in dark marble
and with water to be pumped from a
cistern conveniently located. A large
plate glass mirror is also very con-
ventent for the ladies, situated di-
rectly over the wash basin.

The heating is by means of the
Baker heater, with pipes running the
length of the car. This apparatus is
so manufactured that the fire is ex-
tinguished if anything happens to the
heater out of the ordinary course of
events. The lighting is by means of
three large and beautifully finished
chandeliers, situated at equidistant
points through the cars. The racks for
storing light baggage are of highly
polished brass of very pretty design.
The cars were built by the Pullman
Company at its old works in Detroit,
Mich., and are fully up to the high
standard set by George M. Pullman.

There are 80 freight cars to come
and while it may not be expected that
they will be built in the regal splendor
of the passenger coaches they will un-
doubtedly be substantial and models
in their line. .

The combination baggage and
smoking car is a beauty. It is modeled
something after the style of the Bos-
ton & Albany smokers, having rattan
seats, very durable and still very
comfortable. The public will be not
be obliged to stand in the bagpgage
compartment while smoking on the
new road, as was necessary on the
Cromwell.

(Reprinted from the Meriden
Journal, Feb. 14, 1888)

—Photo from collection of Glover A. Snow.

ORIGINAL COACH NO. 10, which was built at the Wason shops in Springfield, Mass., is shown
after it was repainted in 1888 to match the new coaches bought from Pullman that year when
the extension from Meriden to Waterbury was opened. Color was olive green with gold lettering.
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NO. 1 as it looked about 1888, headed east on the bridge over the Naugatuck River, Waterbury.

MOTIVE POWER

NO. In August, 1883, at
about the same time
that the first grading started
on the Meriden & Cromwell,
the directors voted to buy their
first engine and five cars. The
lccomotive was built by the
Rhode Island Works, Provi-
dence, as Meriden & Cromwell
No. 1, builder’s No. 1372, a
4-4-0 type with 54-inch drivers,
cylinders 17x24, weight on
drivers 52,000 pounds, total
weight 80,000 pounds. The
New York & New England
gave it No. 198 when it took
over. The New Haven when it
purchased all the Cromwell
engines in 1897 made it their
No. 2. In 1904 it was renum-
bered 1898, and the machine
was not scrapped until 1915.

First No. 2 First No. 2

was appar-
ently somewhat of a boomer,
and considerably the worze for

wear. A 2-4-0 type, it was built
by Baldwin in 1868 as their
No. 1761. It had 14x22 cylin-
ders, 50-inch drivers, and it
weighed 14} tons. The Lehigh
Coal & Navigation Company
was the first owner, and listed
it as their No. 54. Eventually it
turned up with Philadelphia
& Reading markings and their
No. 10, on the Wilkesbarre Pier
at Providence, working for the
Providence & Worcester road.
At that time it burned hard
coal, had a straight stack and
no extension arch. The Rhode
Island Locomotive Works billed
the Meriden & Cromwell road
$603.59 for repairing it as a
construction engine. What the
Meriden & Cromwell paid for
it “as is” has not been learned.
When it came to the Meriden &
Cromwell in February, 1885, it
had 52-inch drivers and 17x24
cylinders.

Second No. 2 0Onthe

first of
November, 1886, original No. 2
was traded in for $800 toward
a new Rhode Island Forney at
$6,400. (Compare this with the
price tag on the lightest Diesel
switcher nowadays — around
$60,000 — or road Diesels at
$200,000!) Second No. 2 with
builder’s No. 1698, had 44-inch
drivers, 17x22 cylinders, and
weighed 56,000 pounds. New
York & New England gave it
No. 199, and on the New Haven
its number was 14, which was
changed in 1904 to 2826. The
engine was scrapped January
29, 1914.

N 3 Originally a Pennsyl-
0. : .

vania Railroad ma-
chine, various PRR numbers
have been claimed for it, but
Charles E. Fisher who has
done .exhaustive checking of
many road lists, including the
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—Photo from collection of Glover A. Snow.

NO. 3 at the West Main Street engine house, Meriden. Photograph is believed to have been taken in
the Fall of 1892 when No. 3 had its last overhaul by the MW&CR shop crew.

Meriden, Waterbury & Con-
necticut River, is convinced No.
3 was PRR No. 387, built by
Baldwin in 1867, a 4-4-0 with
17x24 cylinders and 62-inch
drivers, weight on drivers of
50,400 pounds, and weight of
e¢ngine 75,700 pounds.

NO. 4 photographed at Meriden when new in 1888. Crew members identified are: third from left,

The other PRR numbers al-
leged for this machine have
proved to have been used on
locomotives of other wheel
arrangement, or made and used
by the PRR at times which
would not have allowed them
to have been sold sold to the

Meriden & Cromwell when it is
known the engine was obtained.

The picture shows No. 3 to
be of unmistakable Pennsyl-
vania origin, but it did not come
directly to the Meriden &
Cromwell. It was purchased on
October 6, 1887, for $2,000

—Photo from collection of Connecticut Valley Chapter, N. R, H. S.

William Varson, conductor; fifth from left, John Kline, fireman; Penrose H. Baker, enginzer.

[
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—From collection of D. W. Peckham.

No. 5 of the Meriden, Waterbury & Connecticut River Railroad photographed at Summit.

from a man in New York who
had it stored at the Mason
Machine Works in Taunton,
Mass., under the name of the
Standard Coal Company of
Boston. Encgineer Gilbert went
to Taunton and brought it home
via the New York & New Eng-
land from Walpole to Hartford,
thence down the Valley Road
to Cromwell. The freight bill
said it weighed 80,000 pounds
“on drivers.”

In February of 1889 it was
reported that No. 3 had been
thoroughly overhauled under
the supervision of Master Me-
chanic Wilkinson, “and is now
in regular service doing good
work.”

No. 3 took New York & New
England No 200 — at least it
was assigned, although it may
never have been used, as most
reports rated No. 3 ready for
serap at the time of the lease.
It was still in storage, however,
when the equipment was sold
to the New Haven Road in
1897.

NO. 4 A 4-4-0, which was

built in Schenectady
in 1888, builder’s No. 2695, it
had 54-inch drivers, 17x24 eyl-
inders, weighed 60,000 pounds
on drivers, 32,000 pounds on
trucks. It received NY&NE No.
201, and New Haven No. 151,
renumbered fo 1849 in 1904. It
was serapped in 1917,

NO. 5 The road’s only six-
coupled machine, a
4-6-0, it had 17x24 cylinders,
48-inch drivers, weighed 80,000
pounds thereon and 18,000
pounds on trucks, was built in
1888 as Schenectady No. 2741,
It was sald to have proven too
heavy for the Waterbury line.
The New York & New Eng-
land gave it number 202, and
the New Haven turned it over
to the Shepaug, Litchfield &
Northern, which made it their
No. 2, When the New Haven
took it back they assigned No.
552, then 452 and finally 929
to the engine. It was scerapped

in 1922, the last MW &CR lo-
comotive to pound the rails.

American Locomotive Com-
pany records on Nos. 4 and 5
are slightly at variance with
our figures on one or two points.
No. 4, according to Alco, was of
90,000 weight on drivers and
had 60-inch wheels when it left
Schenectady. No. 5, Alco says,
weighed 101,000 pounds and
had 55-inch wheels, with cyl-
inders 19x24. Quite possibly
alterations were made on these
engines. In June 1897 the New
Haven Road superintendent
listed No. 4 as having 63-inch
wheels, but he listed No. 5 as
having 55-inch.

All five engines seem to have
stayed on the property during
the New York & New England
lease. They were stored in
Meriden when service ceased
on June 1, 1896. The New
Haven took them in September,
1897, and when the line re-
opened in 1898, it was with
New Haven power.
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bought a three-car streamline articulated diesel-
powered train, “The Comet,” built by the Goodyear-
Zeppelin Company at Akron, Ohio. This first ran
between Providence and Boston and later was tried
on a number of other runs, including the Waterbury-
Hartford-Boston run via the “Highland” route. It
was successful as a business getter, but it was a
“headache” to the mechanical forces because it was
the only one of its kind on the system and any time
anything went wrong with it, it was a special job to
fix it up. It was finally taken out of service perma-
nently within the past year.

All of these various experiments, though, were
attempts to solve the basic problem of trying to
make passenger service pay on lines where the
traffic is light. It looks now as though the solution
has been found, and that the “Shoreliners” and the
“Little Shoreliners” are the answers to the long
sought question.

The six additional “Shoreliners” now on order
will be assigned to the road’s Naugatuck Valley
line, according to present plans, for the run be-
tween Bridgeport, Waterbury and Winsted. This
line has long been a ‘“‘problem child” for the New
Haven passenger-wise, and the recent shifting of
mail carryings from railroad to truck have brought
this passenger service very close to the margin
where it is possible to operate at a profit. But with
“Shoreliners” to take over the job, the road expects
it will be able to continue to keep the line “in the
black’” and perhaps even to build it up to something
of its old-time prestige.

Photos and article reprinted from
New Haven Register, Sunday, August 3, 1952.

VR -2 T B - TR T
RESTORE?D ( ° THE

NEW SELF-PROPELLED ""SHORELINER* RAIL DIESEL CAR, all stainless steel and air-
conditioned, the type to be operated by The New Haven Railraad between WORCESTER and
NEW LONDON.

To meet the demand for PASSENGER SERVICE to and from NEW YORK,
THE NEW HAVEN RAILROAD will operate regular service on the
WORCESTER-NEW LONDON Line, DAILY EXCEPT SUNDAYS, starting
MONDAY, JUNE 9, 1952,

At NEW LONDON conncctions will be made with either th'e fast
“MAYFLOWER"™ Express or the famous "MERCHANTS LIMITED", both
to and from NEW YORK.

Passer | ..
(Daily Except Sundays!
Daylight Saving Time

From Worcester to New L — New York

AM. P.M.

Lv. WORCESTER 7:50 4:50
WEBSTER 8:13 5:13
PUTNAM 8:28 5:28
DANIELSON 8:39 5:39

Lv. NORWICH 9:16 6:16
Due NEW LONDON 9:37 6:37
Lv. NEW LONDON 9ic146 6(c)146
Due NEW HAVEN 100137 7(c)37
Due NEW YORK (6.C.T.) 12(c)00  9(c)00
neon P.M.

New York — New 1 #o tester

AM. P.M.

Lv. NEW YORK (G.C.T.) 7(c130 5(c100
Lv. NEW HAVEN 81c)52 6(c)22
Duc NEW LONDON 91c133 71113
Ly. NEW LONDON 9:53 7:23
Due NORWICH 10:14 7:43
DANIELSON 10:51 821
PUTNAM 11:02 8:32
WEBSTER 11:17 8:47

Due WORCESTER 11:40 9:10
AM. P.M.

(¢} By cannecting troin between New Londan and New Yark
Dining service available between New London and New York

| ~nger Fares, Ind. Federal Tax

Coach Fares Only
Qan  Waaalry one  KemaTris

WORCESTER and: "o Ew PYTNAM and: o o
WEBSTER $0.69  $1.22 DANIELSON 50.35  $0.60
PUTNAM 1.06 1.89 NORWICH 1.35 2,39
DANIELSON 135 2.39 NEW LONDON 1.86 331
NORWICH 2.33 114 NEW YORK 660 1173
NEW LONDON 279 4.97
NEW YORK 7.36  13.09 DANIELSON and:

NORWICH $0.95 $1.70

WEBSTER and: NEW LONDON 1.55 2.76
PUTNAM $0.35 s?.gg NEW YORK 629 11.18

ANIJEL .78 .
gonwnéﬁN 1.71 3.04 NORWICH and:
NEW LONDON 2.25 4.00 NEW LONDON $0.59 $1.04
NEW YORK 6.99 12.42 NEW YORK 5.36 9.52
Children under S free—under 12 half fare.
It will e n for p ron Webster ¢ [-1ielsan to pay fa - on the recin.

FOR PARLO.. CAR, COMMU ., .. ION & 1 all other |
YOUx LOCAL AGe

YOUR PATRONAGE WILL JUSTIFY THE CONTINUANCE
OF THIS SERVICE.

25 OF PASSENGER FAR.L CONSULT
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What Is RDC?

(From a Budd Company brochure)

RDC stands for Rail Diesel Car. It is the
all-stainless steel, self-propelled railway passen-
ger car created by The Budd Company and
introduced to the railroad world in September,
1949.

The need for such a car has always been
recognized in this country. RDC is the only one
ever built which not only meets that need ade-
quately, but also provides such performance that
it has widened to almost limitless horizons the
field of usefulness for self-propelled cars.

Fundamental in the success of RDC is its
high power-weight ratio of 8.68 horsepower per
ton. RDC-1 weighs 112,800 pounds ready to run.

The car is powered by two 275-horsepower
General Motors diesel engine power units which
are mounted under the floor, so that there is no
intrusion upon revenue space. Each engine drives
one axle, providing independent action and no-
tably increased traction. The power is trans-
mitted by a General Motors torque converter
and reverse gear built integral with the engine.

The trucks are equipped with Budd railway
disc brakes, Budd Rolokron anti-wheel-slide
devices and sanding applied both automatically
and manually, and a shunt-block system which
insures positive single-car actuation of signals
and crossing gates.

RDC is air-conditioned, and is heated by
what would otherwise be waste heat from the
power unit cooling system.

Cost-per-mile naturally varies with the type
of service, so there can be no fixed figure appli-
cable to all RDC operations, but a typical ex-
ample is found in a breakdown of actual oper-
ating experience over an 8-months’ period,
showing an operating cost of 64 cents per car
mile.

RDC accelerates to 57 mph in one mile; to
44 mph in 60 seconds. From a standing start it
will do 5 miles in 5 minutes.

‘New Haven’ Wins 2nd FRP Award

The 1952 Passenger Service Progress Award of the Federation
for Railway Progress went to the New York, New Haven & Hartford
Railroad, which also received the award in 1949. An example of the
improvements in passenger service which makes the New Haven
outstanding in the country is shown below in the comparison of the
April 30, 1952, Providence-Worcester service in Table 23 with that
of April 26, 1953, in Table 14 at bottom of the page:

Providence—Worcester 23

Ex Sat Ex
Ex | Sun | Sat [Sun& Sun &
Sun | only | only {Hol A DailylHol A
124 | 126 | 578 | 578 125 | 578
Miles Miles
AM ;| AM | PM | PM AM | AM
0.0{Providence. .. ...Lv| 1 14] 2 35! 3 40} 4 42 0.0{Worcester. .. ... Le| 2 10} 6 22
4 _5{Pawtucket and 5. 9iMillbury. ... .. ... .....] 633
C ntr | Falls...... R 3 49 4 51 8.5|{Wilkinsonville. R (N 6 38
S 9Vatley Eells.. ool ] en L 3 53455 9.2|Saundersville. . 6 40
8 .6iBerkeiey. . 3 {58; 5100 10.6{Farnumswille. . 6 43
9 2lAshion .. . . . e | 401; 503 12.6!/Northbridge. . ... ... 6 47
10.7}Albion. . .... .. )& £ ]4a04 508 16.9) . ... Duef..... 6 53
12. %{Manville, . ... ...... tl < |407 509 169 Whitins. ... { Lv 7 00
28 Woonsocket . { D48 Z 1 B 1412514 | 18°5\Usbridge.........| o | 705
1578 I o (432524 | 23.5Millville... ~§ 712
17 .5|Blackstone. .. .....| o e | 436 548 25.7|B! 717
19 7 Millville .. .. . | %4455 [274 |72
24 :3|Uxbridge. .. @ | @ |450 602 |ogjWoonsocket {”E % |TS
I Duey 4 84) 6 081 | 31 OiManville........... gl7a
26.3 WLyl ... 504 616 32 .5|Albion < | 745
30 6iNerthbridge .. ......}.....]..... 503} 6125 34.0jAshton ., @ |74
32.6jFarnumsvitle 5118) 6130 34 .6)Berkeley. ... .. 7151
34.0{Saundersville. . . 5 211 6 33 37 3|Valley Falls. ........|..... 7 58
34 7|Wilkinsonville. . ... .|, S 23| 6 35 38.7Pawtucket and
37 3|Millbury. ........ .. 5 30| 6 42 . Central Falls. ..... .....1 808
43 2lWorcester. . . .. § 42/ 6 54 43.2|Providence. ... Due| 3 20; 8 15
PM ' PM AM | AM

e Leave Attleborc 8.42 PM; Pawlucket-Central Falls 8.12 PM.
g Leave Mansiield 8.28 PM, Altleboro 8.03 PM; Pawtucket-Central Falls 9.27

PM.
!&ur-only_m dgnalwmnoﬁabcaxdum‘
¥ Will carry ch d b only on Salurday

%} SHORELINER—Rail diessl car.
¥ ¥ LITTLE SHORELINER—F. C. D. Car.
# No checked buggage service on this train.
Holiday A —Muy 30; ?uly 4 and Sept. 7,
Holiday B—May 30 und July 4.
Holidav C—Se¢pt. 7.
a Leave Attlcboro 12.21 PM.
b Leave Allleboro 5.38 PM; Pawtucket-Central Falls, 5.58 PM.
¢ Stoos only on Saturdays. at Fast Foxboro 2.01 PM.
t Stopa only on signal or en nonce o Conductor. .
g Leave Pawtucket-Cent  Fulls 8,50 PM.
v Stops only to rc  1ve angers.
x Leave Woon 4.1 PM.
y Will carry e .=d baggage only on Saturdays and Sundays.
z Leave Woor octet 6.50 PM. 4-26-53—29

Providence—Worcester

Sat
Ex Sut!Ex Sut! only |Ex Sat|Ex Sat Ex
Ex | Sun {Sun &Sun & Ex |Sun &Sun& Sun &|
Sun | enly |Hol C|Ha! Ci{Hol BlHa! C|Hal C DailyiHol A
124 | 126 | 582 | #584{ 578 | #586| 576 125 | 575
oo | okch] okok| 99 kok L]
Miles Miles
AM | AM | AM | PM | PM | PM | PM AM | AM
0 .QiProvidence......Lvl 1 04 2511 850{ 1500 340/ 407i608] .....| . . .. 0.0{Worgester. .. . ... Lvl 2 10§ 6 35
4 .5|Pawlucket and 6.0Millbury. . . .. ... ..}..... 6 48,
Central Falls. ... ..[..... .....1 8353158 349 415 618 8.6|Wilkinsonville. .. 53
5.9jValley Fells.. .. .. P A 3i53).....1 6§21 9 _3lSaundersville. . 6155
8 6{Berkeley. ... g © .. 6 28 10.7|{Farnumswille . . 6 58|..
9.2{Ashten .. .. £t & 12.7|Northbridge. 7 02
10 7|Albien. . . o L4 17 OjWhitins . 7 12
12 2IManwlle. . .. =2 2 19.0; Uxbrid
15 8{Woonsocket - -y i e 718
o o 23 6iMillvilte . . | e | 725
17 .5|Blackstone. s 2 25 8|Blackstene........| & | 7 30
19,71 Millwlle .. ... = s 27.5{Woonsocket . ... .. S | 741
%gg w}?!ésiq& : o | @ 311 |Manville. . ... .. g 7w
. iting. .. .o 32.6lAlbion. . .. B | 750
30.6|Nerthbridge ..., .., ... .. 34.1{Ashton .. e | 753
32 6{Farnumsvile. ... b ... L 34 .7|Berkeley. . . % | 7.55
34 .0|Saundersville. 37.4{Valley Falls.- .. .| & | 8703
34 Z\Whilkmsenville. . ... ... .. .. 38 8{Pawtucket and w .
37.3|Millbury. . . P R Central Falls. .., .. ... 807
43 .3|Worcester. .. .. Duej 2 13| 4 0} 43 .3{Providenoe. . .. Due| 3 20 8 15
AM ' AM | AM
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Modern, Expanded Passenger Service Pays Off

The ‘New Haven’ Leads Again

The New York,

New Haven &

Hartford Rail-

road 1is quietly

going ahead with

a program of im-

proved and ex-

panded passenger service, and

is finding that it pays off in
dollars and cents.

The New Haven’s progres-
sive and steramlined manage-
ment holds no brief with the
popular conception in railroad
circles that the short-haul pas-
senger traffic should be dis-
couraged and abandoned. The
addition of 50 trains, mostly in
the Boston area, with the
change from Daylight to Stand-
ard Time on September 23,
1952, was so successful that 20
more trains were added two
months later in November.
Most of these runs were 85
miles or less.

Although not the first rail-
road in the country to use the
Budd RDC, the New Haven is
now the largest user in the
country. The road finds the
RDC (“Shoreliner” on the New
Haven) the ideal car for short-
haul, lightly traveled runs.
And where volume of travel
will not warrant an 89-passen-

ger vehicle, the New Haven is
pioneering with its “F.C.D,
Car’ or “Little Shoreliner.”” It
is a standard Mack 50-passen-
ger bus body mounted on P.C.C.
trucks and driven by Diesel-
electric power.

A pioneering move with the
RDC was the reopening of the
passenger service on the New
London-Worcester route. Orig-
inally started on June 9, 1952,
for a 3-months’ trial period, the
daily serviee of two round trips
immediately became popular.
Connecting with the Mayflower
and the Merchants Limited to
and from New York, it gives
Worcester 414-414-hour train
service to New York for the
first time in history.

One thing that surprised the
New Haven management on re-
opening the New London-Wor-
cester service was the amount
of revenue received from purely
local riders. The number of
passengers carried between
Worcester and Webster, for in-
stance, was quite a revelation.
Offtimes 25 or 30 people would
take the 16-mile ride on shop-
ping or business trips into the
bigger city. More than once the
conductor has had to ask the
engineer to run slow in order

that he could collect all the
fares,

So good was the local riding
that stops were added at Jewett
City and Plainfield, Conn.,
when the Fall timetable ap-
peared in 1952, as well as a
third round trip daily. Needless
to say, bus travel in the New
London-Worcester area has
fallen off alarmingly.

The addition of one round
trip, known as “The Nutmeg-
ger,” between Hartford and
Boston on a 2-hour, 40-minute
schedule has proven successful.
Now operated with a “Shore-
liner,” the train has been more
than filled at times. For in-
stance, Friday, November 29,
the day after Thanksgiving
(1952), there were 136 pas-
sengers to take the 89-capacity
unit out of Boston. A second
RDC was hurriedly coupled
and at Hartford it was neces-
sary to round up a crew to send
the car back to Boston imme-
diately to protect the Saturday
morning runs for which it was
scheduled.

From 4 train depatures daily
in 1949 to 12 daily in 1952 (14
daily in 1953 with the Summer-
only “BEast Wind”) is what the
new and Improved passenger
service has done for Put-

7 New York—New London—Norwich—Worcester

Change Trains at Now Londen
Service between 1 »w Londan and Worcester is provided by a SHORELINER rai! diesel car

nam, Conn. — three trains
each way on week days
and two on Sundays on the

Ex | « wm Ex Sun | Ex Ex
Sun | only | . Daily| Sun | Daily only | Sua | Sun | . Daily) Datly  Hartford-Boston line, and
o o
*6 10 |6 ¢120| 14 573| #517|8 5
" $5701 837213 ;M" o3t 0z 571 #3573 ;i? g o121 :zé the same schedule on the
e o Noo P AM | AM y PM | P
from [Now York, G.C.T. Lv| 7 221 8 03/ 510 30{t2 0| § 00 Lv| 7 30, 7 4812 155 203 155 N ew London- Worcester
Now {New Haven..... ... .| 852/ 927 o~ | 1 27| 6 22 7581239 ..,..| 518 .
lon- [New London... Duz} 9 43|10 E.‘: ‘;'—' 225/ 713 48 ( 8 2 54:‘:’ 2 46; 5 34 llne.
don Chango Trains g:% ’ g : % o } tl)g q {2 g g?‘
0 O|New Londen.....Lv[ 9 5110 ¢ > a7 | 235/ 7 21 Tritasgll 288 2% (6 061 A SCHEDULE in the New
13.5{Norwich........ Duci10 1201 ¢ 21256l 742 CC 118|148 . zal 625 , . .
ES'EEW x[‘(l:aay.........tg 3; H 5,.3 SZ |3 15| 801 921939 2 06T g | 648 Haven’s April 26, 1953, time-
:f;g § wonlield. L RS g gg g ég Change Trains F :—;E table which hasn’t appeared for
46 (1L Q5L 57| 2 08] 3 47| 8 33} | 72,3|New London... ..Lv, 9 - ¥ 951 2 12|, 258651 the preceding two decades—an
553 111812 1218 1 4 02 8 48] 1123 U[Naw Haven .. Dae10 10 43| 3 07|§ &3] 7 4 P &
72.3 UL i2j12 38|8l 2 48| 4 26| 9 12| 1135 4|NewYork G.CT. Dus 11 5512 05| 4 38 6 18} 9 0 example of the expanded pas-
AM | PM | PM | PM | PM tAMIPM I PM | PMIPM1  onoer service.
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Additional train service and
restorations on other branches
awaited delivery of new equip-
ment when 1952 drew to a
close. At the year’s end only 8
RDC’s and one F.C.D. were in
service. On order were 32 more
RDC’s (types 1, 2, 3 and 4—
the first baggage-express-RPPO
units to be built); 9 F.C.D.
Mack cars; 100 multiple-unit
electric coaches for the New
Haven-New York commuter
service and 10 electric passen-
ger locomotives (this electric
equipment for 1954 delivery).

If the new equipment con-
tinues to make money for the
road, the management sees no
end to the added volume of
business to be gained by even
further expansion of service.

Substantial investments are
being made not only in passen-
ger rolling stock, but in all
departments. The physical
equipment of the railroad is in
better shape than it ever was.
New rail, ballasting and gen-
eral roadbed improvements are
keeping large crews continu-
ously employed. The paint and
car repair shops are working
full time to keep rolling stock
in first class condition. In the
words of its energetic president,
Frederic C. Dumaine, Jr., “We
intend to make the New Haven
Railroad the most modern rail-
road in the country. That’s
what New Iingland deserves
and if we give that kind of
service the New Haven Rail-
road will make money.”

In the financial reports, the
place where this method of
running a railroad contrary to
ultra - conservative principles,
and where management’s poli-
cies are approved or disproved
in the long run, the New Haven
shows a very healthy condition.
For the year 1952 the New
Haven carried 43,616,463 rev-
enue passengers, or 1,372,173
more than in 1951. Passenger
revenue was $51,677,012, or
$2,410,704 more than in 1951,
and it amounted to 31.62% of
the New Haven’s total gross
income for 1952,

Freight revenue amounted to
$93,5629,505, up 1.8% over
1951, while total operating in-
come was $163,419,622. Total
net income was $6,677,225.

NEW HAVEN ROAD’S RDC No. 22, regularly used on the “Nutmegger,” Hartford to Boston week-
day run, poses for a photo on old Central New England trackage at site of former roundhouse,
West Winsted, Conn., on a Connecticut Valley Chapter, NRHS railfan trip, Sunday, February 1, 1953.



